
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Cabinet

Members of the Cabinet of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on Tuesday, 1 June 2021 at 7.30 
pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

The Government legislation in response to COVID-19 to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members has now expired. Therefore, this meeting will be conducted in person and with socially 
distanced Elected Members and officers in attendance. This meeting will be streamed live and can 
be watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube channel:

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

3. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is. 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 
To report any decisions made by Cabinet Members under their delegated 
powers.

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


6. Review of the Working in Partnership Framework (Pages 11 - 62)

7. Recent Member Survey – Responses (Pages 63 - 72)

8. Q4 Performance Report 2020-21 (Pages 73 - 
100)

9. Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board (Pages 101 - 
106)

10.Minutes of meeting of Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee (Pages 107 - 
112)

11.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

12.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private

13.Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Members

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles 
Lauren Sullivan 
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Cabinet

Monday, 22 March 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Lisa Nyon Assistant Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Shazad Ghani Planning Manager (Policy)  
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
James Bridges Digital Developer (Technical Support)
Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes)

85. Apologies for absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

86. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on Monday, 22 February 2021 were signed by 
the Chair.

87. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr John Burden declared a non-prejudicial interest in item 13 as he was a Director on and 
the Chair of the Age UK Board. Cllr John Burden agreed to leave the meeting whilst Cabinet 
discussed the agenda item. 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared a significant interest, in agenda items 12 as he was a Director on 
and the Chair of the Rosherville Ltd Board as well. 

Cllr Lenny Rolles declared a non- prejudicial for item 13 as his wife was a trustee for Age 
UK. Cllr Rolles agreed to leave the meeting whilst Cabinet discussed the agenda items.  

88. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 22.03.2021

2

There were no further decisions for Cabinet to be updated on. 

89. Retirement Message for The Director (Planning & Development) 

The Chair informed the Cabinet that this meeting was the last Cabinet meeting the Director 
(Planning & development) would be in attendance for before his upcoming retirement. The 
Chair thanked the Director (Planning & Development) for his many years of service to the 
Council and on behalf of all Members, wished him a happy retirement.  

The Director (Planning & Development) thanked the Chair for his kind words and informed 
the Cabinet that it had been a pleasure working with all of them and their predecessor.  

90. Housing Delivery Test 

The Cabinet were updated on the Housing Delivery Test 2020 measurement for Gravesham 
published on 19 January 2021, and their approval was sought to publish the Housing 
Delivery Test Action Plan (Appendix 2). 

The Planning Manager (Policy) outlined key points from the report to the Cabinet regarding 
the:  

 Housing Delivery Test Action Plan 
 20% Land Buffer and the Borough’s Five-Year Land Supply 
 The Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

The Chair praised the well-made report, which clearly set out the complex direction the 
Government were taking with regard to Planning and Housing Delivery, but he raised several 
concerns with the Government’s approach: 

 The power of local people to inform local planning decisions was being removed 
 The Government had set housing delivery targets that were entirely unrealistic and 

would lead to Gravesham Council being penalised; the Council had approved 
planning permissions for hundreds of dwellings, but developers were land banking 
and not  delivering the permitted housing

 The impact of Covid-19 and the Governments own actions informing developers not 
to build over the course of the pandemic had not been adequately taken into account 

 The Council needed the Government to give local planning authorities such as 
Gravesham, further powers to ensure developers build the homes that are permitted, 
including CPO powers and the funding to ensure that the Council can enable delivery 
of housing units on land that had been banked by developers 

The Cabinet fully endorsed the Chairs points and Cllr Shane Mochrie-Cox, Cllr Brian 
Sangha, Cllr Lenny Rolles and Cllr Jenny Wallace voiced their own concerns with the 
Government’s approach to Planning and Housing targets.  

In response to questions, the Planning Manager (Policy) explained that: 

 Cabinet’s interpretation of ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ was 
correct; Planning Officers and Members were required to put greater weight on the 
need for housing development within the Borough when considering planning 

Page 4



Cabinet 22.03.2021

3

applications. There would be instances where other factors such as the NPFF would 
need to be taken into account, but Members had to consider the need for housing, 
how much development had or hadn’t been brought forward and determine if the 
benefits outweighed the negative impacts of a development being brought forward 

 If the Government determined that officers or Members had not followed Government 
guidance when making planning decisions, then ultimately, the Planning Inspectorate 
and Secretary of State would determine applications. In some cases, the Secretary of 
State has taken over planning applications and issued the planning decision.  A 
recent case occurred in Tonbridge Wells in which the Secretary of State did not 
object to a business park being built on green belt land and within an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, which went against the National Planning Policy 
Framework, due to the economic needs of the area and the weight accorded to this 
factor.

The Chair advised that a strong message needed to be sent to the Government expressing 
the Council’s concern over unrealistic targets and he would strive to work with the other 
political parties in order to deliver a successful Housing Delivery Plan and the housing 
needed by local people. 

Resolved that the Cabinet: 

 Approved the Housing Delivery Test Action Plan (Appendix 2) 

 Gave delegated authority to the Assistant Director (Planning) in consultation with the 
lead Member for the Strategic Environment to make minor alterations to the 
document prior to publication.

91. GBC Response to EU Transition period 

The Cabinet were provided with an update on the EU Transition period and Gravesham 
Borough Council’s response and activities in relation to this.

The Chief Executive outlined a brief summary of the report to the Cabinet and highlighted 
key points regarding the:  

 Response to the EU Transition Requirements 
 Future requirements
 Consideration of GBC’s Local Housing Need requirements 

The Chair advised that last week a letter was received from Government ministers who were 
seeking assistance with Housing for those eligible to migrate to the UK from Hong Kong. 
Some 2.5 million people. The Chair queried if that was a factor that would need to be 
considered in the future. 

The Chief Executive explained that the letter was received just before the Plan went to 
publication and its impact had been considered; the Chief Executive had consulted with the 
Planning Manager (Policy) and the Council were not anticipating any material impact on the 
Local Plan. The only way it would have any effect on the Local Plan was if the levels of 
migration were vastly different to that seen in previous years prior to Brexit; Members would 
be kept abreast of any significant changes to the situation with Hong Kong residents. 

Page 5



Cabinet 22.03.2021

4

The Cabinet agreed to note the actions undertaken by the council in preparing for the UK’s 
exit from the EU and to note the future requirements set out in the report.

92. Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 

The Cabinets approval was sought to adopt the new Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Sevrices gave a brief overview of the Strategy to 
the Cabinet and advised that it had been scrutinised and agreed at Finance & Audit 
Committee on 09 March 2021. 

Concern was raised by a Member surrounding the Strategies effectiveness in detecting any 
fraudulent activity with regards to the large amount of business grants that had been 
distributed to thousands of businesses over the course of the pandemic. 

The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services assured the Cabinet that the Strategy 
was responsive in terms of reacting to the new grant schemes and a number of his staff had 
actually been redeployed to deal with checking the grant applications. All of the grants 
received would have had some sort of fraud prevention work undertaken and the Head of 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Sevrices was confident that the new Strategy was effective 
enough to combat any fraudulent activity. 

The Chair added that training for Members in counter fraud was extremely important and 
going forward, training for that area would be repeated and built upon with other aspects of 
Member training. 

Resolved that the Cabinet approved the proposed Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy 
document presented at Appendix 2.

93. Corporate Risk Register and Risk Management Strategy 2021-22 

The Cabinet were informed of the outcomes from Gravesham Borough Council’s annual risk 
identification and analysis exercise and presented with a copy of the draft Corporate Risk 
Register for 2021-2022.

The Assistant Director (Corporate Sevrices) ran through the report and highlighted key 
points from the draft Corporate Risk Register 2020-21 and the Risk Management Strategy 
2021-2022. 

The Cabinet noted the five risks for inclusion of the Corporate Risk Register 2021-22: 

1. Ongoing financial viability of the council
2. Changes in national priorities and legislation
3. Organisational capacity/resilience
4. Cyberattack resulting in data breach or corruption of data
5. Investment risk.

The Chair explained that this item had been scrutinised and agreed at Finance & Audit 
Committee on 09 March 2021 and that it would be submitted to the next Full Council meeting 
for debate and Member approval. 

Page 6



Cabinet 22.03.2021

5

Resolved that the Cabinet approved the Corporate Risk Register that had been developed 
for 2021-2022, prior to it being presented to Council.

94. Exclusion 

The Chair moved that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 that 
the public be excluded from any items included in Part B of the agenda because it was likely 
in view of the nature of business to be transacted that if members of the public were present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

95. Rosherville Limited Business Plan 

Cllr Lenny Rolles left during discussion of this item. 

The Cabinet were presented with the business plan for Rosherville Limited for the period 
2021-24 for Cabinet approval.

The Director (Communities) outlined key points from the Rosherville Limited Business Plan 
2021-24 and explained the financial implications. 

Resolved that the Cabinet approved the business plan for Rosherville Limited at appendix 
two.

96. Gravesham Court Phase 1 

Cllr John Burden and Cllr Lenny Rolles left during discussion of this item. 

The Cabinet considered options for development / redevelopment of part of the estate to 
provide new and replacement housing.

The Director (Planning & Development) informed the Cabinet of Phase 1 and Phase 2 and 
what each phase would encompass; a decision was not being asked to be agreed at this 
stage and a report would be brought back to the Cabinet in due course. 

Members of the Cabinet were supportive of the redevelopment plans laid out in the report 
but stressed the importance of engaging with the local Community and the Ward Councillors 
throughout the whole process. Members were also keen to keep a facility for Age UK in the 
area if it was possible in the new redevelopment.  

In response to Member questions, the Director (Planning & Development) explained that: 

 As part of the consultation process, the residents would be communicated with 
regards to the parking situation and the loss of some parking spaces during phase 1. 
Parking at other developments and in the wider area would be considered for the 
future 

 Any developments brought forward would be subject to planning controls; the 
supplementary planning document would be utilised for development in the Town 
Centre as well as the developments that the private sector wouldn’t bring forward  

Page 7



Cabinet 22.03.2021

6

Resolved that the Cabinet authorised officers to undertake further investigations and design 
work in respect of Phase 1 (including the variant to incorporate an Age UK facility if feasible), 
reporting back with a feasibility assessment prior to progressing the scheme further, with 
further design work also being undertaken in respect of Phase 2.

97. Land at the junction of Ordnance Road and Milton Place 

The Director (Housing & Operations) and Deputy Chief Executive left prior to discussion of 
this item. 

The Cabinet were provided with an update in respect of the work undertaken with the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) to produce a development brief for the above 
land and were asked to consider the acquisition of land from the EDC to enable a 
comprehensive housing development to be brought forward by the Council. 

The Director (Planning & Development) outlined key points from the points including the 
benefits of converting the Gordon Lodge into a Café and the opportunities for increased 
sheltered housing. 

Members of the Cabinet were supportive of the proposal and voiced their approval for: 

 The conversion of the Gordon Lodge which should decrease the high levels of anti-
social behaviour whilst retaining the lodge’s heritage 

 The plans would build further housing which would increase the Councils housing 
stock and provide vital housing for people in Gravesend 

 The development would generate more income for businesses within the Town 
Centre as the development was only a short walk from the Town 

The Chair explained to the Cabinet that the recommendation advised the decision would 
move forward in due course with the Deputy Leader, not the Leader; the reason for that 
being that the Leader was on the board of the EDC which would be an indirect non-
prejudicial interest. 

The Chair added that the planning application was due to be submitted to Planning 
Committee following the normal process which if approved, would allow the Council to 
purchase the site, develop housing schemes and provide affordable housing including 
sheltered housing with agreement from the EDC which would benefit the over 55’s. In turn, 
that would release housing in other areas of Gravesham for families to move into and the 
Council could use increased amounts of right to buy receipts. 

Resolved that the Cabinet: 

 Noted the outcome of work producing the Development Brief (with the associated 
stakeholder engagement)

 Supported the acquisition of the EDC land, utilising funds held within the land 
acquisitions budget, and authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader of the Executive and appropriate officers, to finalise the price and 
legal documentation to enable this and bring forward a scheme for the site’s 

Page 8



Cabinet 22.03.2021

7

development, which would be the subject of a further report prior to seeking planning 
permission

 Authorised the Director (Communities) to progress the development of a scheme to 
convert the Gordon Lodge into a café (or other appropriate facility) to support users 
of the skatepark and wider area and to provide natural surveillance of the area. Once 
developed, the scheme to be brought back to Members for approval of details and 
the necessary budgetary provision.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:43pm. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 01 June 2021

Reporting officer: Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Revised Working in Partnership Framework

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present Members of the Cabinet with an updated Working in Partnership Framework for 
Gravesham Borough Council.

Recommendations:
1. Members are requested to approve the Working in Partnership Framework for the 

council, as attached at appendix two, for submission to Full Council for formal adoption.

1. Introduction

1.1 In April 2019, the Council adopted an updated Working in Partnership Framework 
for the Council, with clear guidelines to review the framework every three years or 
when it is prudent to do so.

1.2 Following the COVID-19 pandemic and the changes to the way in which the 
council has required to operate in order to respond to the pandemic, it was felt 
that it would be prudent to review the Framework to ensure it is still ‘fit for 
purpose. It was also felt that it would be necessary to review the Framework to 
ensure it reflects current and future working arrangements in relation to 
partnerships and joint working arrangements.

1.3 The purpose of this report is to provide Members of the Cabinet with a copy of the 
draft revised Framework for consideration, prior to submission to Full Council for 
formal adoption.

2. 2. Review and update of the Working in Partnership Framework

2.1 Appendix two to the report sets out the revised Framework (and accompanying 
appendices) for the council.  

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 Specific changes that have been made are as follows:
2.2.1 Amendments to the definition of a partnership to clearly set out the various 

types of joint working activities the council is engaged in.  This has 
included revising the financial threshold for a significant partnership to 
£50,000 (Working in Partnership Framework - paragraph 1.11)

2.2.2 Provisions for commencing partnership or joint working where there is an 
urgent need (ad hoc arrangements) (Working in Partnership Framework - 
paragraph 1.11).

2.2.3 Clarification of the approval process for all forms of partnerships and joint 
working arrangements

2.2.4 Reference to the council’s revised Equalities Aims and Objectives and the 
requirement for new partnership arrangements to demonstrate how they 
are able to contribute to these (Working in Partnership Framework - 
paragraph 2.4).

2.2.5 Reference to the council’s Climate Change commitment, ensuring 
consideration is given to how a partnership may support the borough in 
mitigating climate change (Working in Partnership Framework - paragraph 
2.5).

2.2.6 A detailed breakdown of the governance requirements for shared working 
arrangements (Working in Partnership Framework - paragraph 4.6).

2.2.7 Clarification of the roles and responsibilities of council Officers and 
Members with regards to partnerships and joint working arrangements that 
the council has engaged in (Working in Partnership Framework – section 
5).

2.2.8 Updates to the annual review process for partnerships and shared working 
arrangements to reflect the introduction of a revised approach for 
reviewing shared service arrangements from year three onwards (Working 
in Partnership Framework - paragraph 6.6 and 6.7).

2.3 The draft Framework was discussed at the meeting of the Performance & 
Administration Committee on 25 March 2021; the committee was supportive of the 
Framework and the changes/updates highlighted and suggested a number of 
additional amendments as follows:
2.3.1 Additional wording to provide further clarification/criteria for establishing ad 

hoc working arrangements (Working in Partnership Framework - 
paragraph 1.11).

2.3.2 Amendment to the business case template for shared working 
arrangements to reflect the need to consider ‘Do Nothing’ risks for the 
council and the customer.

2.3.3 Clarification of the purpose/requirement of Exit Strategies in all 
partnerships, no matter whether they have an end date or not (Partnership 
Evaluation Form (appendix one) – ‘Partnership Exit Strategy’ section and 
Shared Service Business Case (appendix two) section 7).

The amendments suggested by the Performance & Administration Committee 
have been incorporated into the draft Framework shown at appendix two.

2.4 The Working in Partnership Framework will continue to be reviewed at least once 
every three years, or unless deemed necessary during this period, with the 
outcomes of this review reported to Cabinet and Council accordingly.  

Page 12



3

2.5 As previously agreed by the Cabinet and Full Council, changes which do not have 
a material effect on the document and its content will require only Cabinet 
approval.

2.6 Cabinet are requested to review and, subject to any alterations/amendments 
agreed by Cabinet, approve the revised Working in Partnership Framework shown 
at appendix two, for submission to Full Council for formal adoption.

3. Background Papers

3.1 There are no background papers pertaining to this report.

Page 13



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications arising from this. As a requirement of the council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework, all potential partnership opportunities and 
shared working arrangements are formally considered by the Monitoring Officer to 
ensure that the legal aspects of proposals are taken into account prior to entering 
into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnerships and shared working arrangements are becoming more and more 
prevalent in the work of the council and the efficient and effective delivery of 
services and corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council has a 
clear framework for identifying and progressing partnership and shared working 
opportunities to ensure those which truly assist in delivering the council’s objectives 
and/or present an efficiency saving to the council are progressed. 
The council’s Working in Partnership Framework requires all potential partnership 
opportunities and shared working arrangements to be risk assessed but also for the 
risk assessment process to be undertaken on a regular basis throughout the life of 
the arrangement.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 14

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


5

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The Working in Partnership Framework provides provisions for all partnership and 
joint working arrangements across the council and therefore supports delivery of all 
council objectives.

Climate Change There are no climate change implications arising from this report.

Crime and Disorder The Working in Partnership Framework will be used for the development of all new 
partnerships and will therefore pick up any issues relating to the Crime and 
Disorder Act.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital or website implications arising from this report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Consideration of Safeguarding implications has been built into the process for 
implementing and revising partnerships, as set out in the Working in Partnership 
Framework.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Two 

 

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
  

Working in Partnership 
A Framework for Members and Officers 

 

To aid effective partnership and shared working arrangements 

June 2021 
 

   
 

DRAFT 

 

Page 17



 
 

Page | 2                                                                       June 2021 

Contents 

 Section Page Number 
1.0 Introduction 3 

2.0 Council Policy for Partnership Development 5 

3.0 Council Policy for Shared Service Development 7 

4.0 Procedures for Managing Partnerships and Shared Service 
Arrangements 

9 

5.0 Responsibilities for Partnerships and Shared Services 12 

6.0 Partnership and Shared Service Monitoring and Review 14 
 

Appendices 
Appendix one The partnership evaluation self-assessment template 

Appendix two The shared services business case template 

Appendix three Drawing up a partnership or shared service agreement 

Appendix four a) Shared Service Review Template (initial) 

b) Shared Service Review Template (from year three onwards) 
 

Page 18



 
 

Page | 3                                                                       June 2021 

Introduction 
1.1 The council approved its first Partnership Framework in January 2006.  The Partnership 

Framework forms part of the ‘Policy Framework’ under Article 4.01(1) of the Council’s 
Constitution and was formally adopted by the Council in March 2006.   

1.2 Since the Partnership Framework was first set-up, the landscape within which local 
government operates has changed significantly with councils moving even more to 
partnership working and developing shared service models across organisations.  The 
need for partnership working was further highlighted in responding to the COVID-19 
pandemic and the need to work together to support communities at one of the most 
challenging times for local authorities and communities alike. 

1.3 This framework document is intended to assist both Members and officers engaged in 
contemplating, setting up, funding, managing, participating in, monitoring, scrutinising or 
ending both partnership arrangements and shared service arrangements between the 
council and other organisations.  It should be considered at every stage of the process. 

1.4 The Partnership Framework will be reviewed at least once every three years. 

 
Why Have a Partnership Framework? 

1.5 Over recent years, the council has become involved in an increasing number of 
partnerships and shared working arrangements which contribute to the delivery of council 
objectives and services.  In the years ahead, it is anticipated that even more activities will 
come within the scope of partnerships, both between the council and various other 
organisations including community groups, and shared working arrangements with other 
local authorities. 

1.6 The council must ensure it is accountable for the public money it spends, that this money is 
used efficiently and that it achieves the intended results.  It is equally important that the 
partnerships or shared working arrangements in which the council is involved do the same 
- especially where substantial funding is provided by the partners and/or external funding 
agencies. 

1.7 The Working in Partnership Framework sets out the key principles by which all council 
officers and Members will operate when engaging in any form of partnership working. 

 
What is a Partnership? 

1.8 Partnership or joint-working is a term that is used to cover a vast array of working 
arrangements between two or more organisations.  These can range from informal 
networks to joint delivery on specific projects and service provision. The council 
differentiates between true partnership working and what is defined as a ‘shared service’ to 
deliver specific council services. 

1.9 The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more 
independent bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”. 

 

Page 19



 
 

Page | 4                                                                       June 2021 

1.10 This can cover a wide range of partnership arrangements; from an agreement to work with 
an organisation to deliver a specific project or piece of work to a long-term formal 
arrangement delivering important services over a borough-wide area. It is therefore 
important that the council can distinguish between the different types of partnerships and 
the impact they have on the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives for the borough 
and its residents. 

1.11 Partnerships and/or joint-working arrangements that the council becomes involved in will 
be categorised in three ways: 
a. Ad hoc arrangements – those that are set up to meet a specific need and are 

established rapidly to address an immediate/urgent need for a defined period of 
time.  These are arrangements that would need to be set up within one month to 
ensure continuity of service or specific community needs are met at a specific time 
as a result of a factors outside the direct control of the council. 

b. Significant arrangements – those arrangements for which there is a council 
resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is fundamental to the delivery 
of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. Without 
this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s 
key corporate goals would not occur.  This will also include those partnerships that 
have been established to deliver legal or statutory requirements on behalf of the 
council. 

c. Other arrangements – all other partnership and joint-working arrangements that 
are in place to ensure delivery of services to the borough of Gravesham, but do not 
have the significant level of financial resource or are not a fundamental delivery tool 
for GBC objectives.  These arrangements contribute to overall achievement on the 
council’s objectives. 

1.12 Partnerships most commonly take the form of ‘unincorporated associations’.  This means 
that they do not have a separate legal existence and each of the partner organisations 
remains legally and financially responsible for the actions they take within, or on behalf of, 
the partnership.   

1.13 Another, less common, form of partnership is where the partners create a separate 
company or a charitable trust to achieve particular purposes.  This is a more complex 
matter involving detailed legal and financial arrangements and as such, these types of 
arrangements are not covered by this Framework.   

1.14 It should be noted that the council also provides funding to a number of community 
organisations to enable them to provide specific services to the residents of Gravesham. 
These grants are reviewed every three-years.  Consideration will be given to whether or 
not these arrangements meet the definition of a partnership, as per this Framework. 

1.15 There is no ‘one size fits all’ set of arrangements for partnership working – they have to be 
tailored to the specific purposes involved.  Regardless of the form, purpose, size, or 
importance of a partnership, however, there are several things that should be considered 
in creating, managing, monitoring and reviewing the partnership arrangements, and it is 
these that this Framework deals with. 

 

 

 

Page 20



 
 

Page | 5                                                                       June 2021 

What is a Shared Service/Working Arrangement? 

1.16 When exploring opportunities for joint-working between local authorities, there are a 
number of different types of initiatives: 
a. A full shared service – this type of arrangement involves teams from two or more 

authorities joining to form one team, hosted by one authority.  For example, this 
could involve the internal audit team from two authorities joining to form one 
internal audit team, employed by one authority but serving the needs of both 
authorities. 

b. Joint-management – this type of arrangement involves the manager from one 
authority taking on the management responsibility of a team of officers at one or 
more other authorities.  For example, this could involve the IT Manager at one 
authority taking on the management of the IT team at another authority.  The 
employee remains under the terms and conditions of the employing authority, but it 
is agreed that the officer will be seconded to another authority (or authorities) to 
provide management support with the other authority (or authorities) paying a fee 
for the services of the manager. 

c. Joint-officer – this type of arrangement is very similar to the joint-management 
arrangement.  This involves officers, who are not managers, providing resilience to 
another authority either on a long-term or permanent basis. 

d. Ad-hoc resilience – as the name suggests, this type of arrangement involves an 
officer (or officers) from one authority providing additional capacity to another 
authority on a short term basis (this could be as maternity cover or on an ‘as and 
when’ basis).  These types of arrangements tend to be agreed on quite short-notice 
as a short-term ‘fix’. 

1.17 The type of arrangement that is entered into will dictate the level of legal agreements and 
governance arrangements that are required. 

 

Other arrangements 

1.18 The council is also involved in a number of commissioning arrangements, whereby the 
council is paid to deliver a service on behalf of another organisation.  This is not a 
partnership arrangement although some of the principles within this framework may apply 
to this way of working and it will be important for these arrangements to have agreed terms 
of reference or service level agreements.  In addition, this Framework does not cover an 
arrangement that is in place and covered by a formal client-contractor contract. 

Page 21



 
 

Page | 6                                                                       June 2021 

2. Council Policy for Partnership Development 
2.1 The council recognises the importance of ensuring that its partnerships serve a useful 

public purpose, are effective in achieving their aims and provide good value for the time, 
effort and money put into them. 

2.2 As such, the council will be willing, in principle, to enter into partnership arrangements with 
other organisations and bodies where the following one or more conditions are satisfied: 
a. there is a clear purpose for the partnership that will contribute to fulfilling the 

council’s statutory duties and/or meeting its policy objectives (including the general 
well-being of Gravesham’s communities); 

b. this purpose cannot be achieved satisfactorily by the council or any of the partners 
acting alone or by some other method; 

c. the partnership will benefit the council through providing resilience to its services, 
efficiency in the use of the council’s resources, potential savings and /or income to 
the council in delivering service in a more efficient and joined-up way.  

d. there is an urgent need for a partnership/joint-working arrangement to be in place 
to respond to an emergency situation. 

2.3 Key factors for consideration in all partnership arrangements, will be if and how the 
establishment of the arrangement is likely to aid the council in fulfilling its statutory duty to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable adults, as well as ensuring 
that all regulations under GDPR are fulfilled. 

2.4 In addition, consideration will also need to be given to ensuring that the partnership is 
going to operate in line with the Equalities Act, , in order to ensure that partnership 
arrangements help support the council’s duties and obligations to make a positive 
difference to its communities. 

2.5 Finally, consideration will also be given to the council’s Climate Change commitment, and 
identifying opportunities for the partnership to assist in delivering action to mitigate climate 
change in the borough. 

 
Opportunities for Partnership Working  

2.6 For all potential partnership working opportunities, an evaluation of the partnership is 
required to be carried out by senior officers from the department(s) most concerned, in 
consultation with the Head of Legal (Shared Service) (Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the 
Director – Corporate Services (Section 151 Officer), whilst keeping the Corporate Change 
Manager informed of discussions.   

2.7 In the case of a partnership with Member level involvement proposed i.e. when council 
Members will form part of the Partnership Board, the relevant Director will be required to 
be involved as well.   

2.8 Other officers with specialist knowledge of the service area should be consulted if 
necessary, especially if there are few, if any, precedents for the proposed partnership 
elsewhere. 

 

Page 22



 
 

Page | 7                                                                       June 2021 

2.9 Appendix one provides a template for a Partnership Evaluation Form to assist in the 
assessment of a new partnership.  Whilst it is not necessary for this specific form to be 
completed, it does cover all of the issues that need to be considered when contemplating 
entering into a new partnership and therefore its use is strongly recommended, in 
particular as it documents the consideration and comments from the council’s Statutory 
officers. 

2.10 The evaluation of a proposed partnership should attempt to draw up a list of the likely 
benefits, costs, risks and any potential equalities issues that the partnership may raise and, 
if possible, to quantify them, or at least describe them clearly.   

2.11 A risk assessment of the proposed partnership must be undertaken to identify any barriers 
to the delivery of the partnership objectives along with clarifying any mitigation that has 
already been undertaken or is planned. 

2.12 The evaluation form includes a section specifically to give consideration to an ‘exit strategy’ 
for the partnership.  This is to ensure that, before the partnership is formally approved, it is 
clear how partners can either end the partnership or remove themselves from the 
partnership if required.  This is a very important aspect of the partnership evaluation 
whether the template is used or not.  The Monitoring Officer should be consulted on all 
potential partnership arrangements to ensure that legal consideration is given to the 
process of exiting a partnership.  Members, Directors, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Section 151 Officer should only look to approve a partnership where proper consideration 
has been given to an ‘exit strategy’.  An exit strategy must be explicit within the 
partnership agreement and be clear on who has responsibility for instigating the exit 
strategy at the council. 

2.13 For those partnerships or joint-working arrangements that need to be established rapidly, it 
will not be necessary to complete a detailed evaluation form.  Consideration must be given 
however, to any potential Safeguarding or GDPR/Data Protection regulations, particularly 
where customer data is being used, to ensure there are no potential data breaches.  

2.14 Before formally entering into the partnership the opinions of the Monitoring Officer (or 
Deputy Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer must be sought and recorded 
accordingly (ideally on the evaluation form if it is being used).  Approval must then be 
sought as follows: 
a. A proposed ‘significant’ partnership must be discussed at Management Team prior 

to being submitted to the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder for formal approval 
alongside the Leader of the Executive.  It is the responsibility of the lead officer to 
present the item to Management Team. 

b. A proposed ‘other’ partnership must be formally approved by the Director, Leader 
of the Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder. 

c. A proposed ‘ad hoc’ partnership must be approved by the Director.  Given that 
these types of arrangements are likely to be put in place at speed, Member 
approval is not required, although the Lead Member must be kept informed of the 
development of the arrangement as well as ongoing monitoring. 

Page 23



 
 

Page | 8                                                                       June 2021 

3. Council Policy for Shared Services Development 
3.1 The council appreciates that there may be alternative ways to delivering council services, 

and that working with other local authorities presents a number of benefits to the public. 

3.2 As such, the council will explore opportunities for shared working and shared services 
development where one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: 
a. the shared service/shared working arrangement will provide a saving or income 

stream to the council whilst maintaining a good standard of service for the public; 
b. the arrangement will benefit the council through providing resilience to its services, 

and efficiency in the use of the council’s resources 

3.3 Key factors for consideration in all shared working arrangements, will be: 
a. if and how the establishment of the arrangement is likely to aid the council in 

fulfilling its statutory duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 
vulnerable adults. 

b. how the arrangement will ensure that all requirements of the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) are to met in order to protect the personal data of 
GBC residents and service users. 

3.4 In addition, a set of core principles for the development of shared services has been drawn 
up with colleagues from other authorities in Kent, which will be the guiding principles used 
moving forward in any shared working arrangements. These principles are set out across 
two key areas: 
Central Principles 
• No detrimental impact to our community and residents: services will only be 

shared where new arrangements offered do not result in the detriment of services 
received by our community and residents. Unless there are specific reasons not to, 
there will be a presence retained at each site, even if minimal.   

• Clarity of purpose, vision, objectives, values and intended outcomes:  
o Shared service arrangements will be founded on clearly articulated, common 

aims and outcomes.  This could include improved customers services, better 
resilience, reduced revenue costs, building a momentum towards a bigger, 
more formal partnership.  In each case these will be clarified at the outset.  

o Business cases will include consideration of the extent of risk transference that 
is acceptable, the degree of formality/informality in any agreement, and the 
extent of prescription/variation. 

• Working in partnership: 

o Openness and transparency will be displayed from the outset.  

o All decisions will be taken collectively, in the sprit of partnership working.  

o Regular Project Board meetings will be established to ensure the momentum of 
projects continues.  

o Opportunities generated as a result of the shared service will be considered 
benefits for each of the partners; e.g. if the shared service creates an 
opportunity to let out space in one organisation, the proceeds of this will be 
shared amongst the partners.  

Page 24



 
 

Page | 9                                                                       June 2021 

Operational Principles 
• Engaged, flexible and resilient workforces: 

o Staff will be communicated with about any proposed new arrangements at an 
early stage, with senior management representatives from the authorities 
involved to present a fully joined-up approach regardless of the host authority. 

o Staff will all be transferred to the same employing organisation (likely via TUPE 
transfer), supported by a formal delegation of responsibility for that service from 
one authority to another.   

o Staff within the shared service will be seen as employees of each respective 
authority regardless of the host authority, with messaging reinforcing this at 
every opportunity.  

o Staff will retain access to all resources necessary at each respective authority, 
regardless of the host authority in the same way as they would if they were 
directly employed by that authority. 

o Recruitment exercises will be undertaken involving all interested parties (unless 
agreement is reached to leave this to the host authority); e.g. when the head of 
the service leaves, the recruitment panel consists of officers from each of the 
respective partner organisations. 

• Funded fairly:  

o Agreement to the split of costs will be made early in the development of shared 
services and the agreed split will be the basis for annual cost sharing and the 
sharing of set-up costs.  

o Budgets for shared services will be agreed as early as possible, with any review 
mechanisms and subsequent shared service payments also established at an 
early stage. 

o Budgets consist only of directly attributable costs relating to service; back-office 
overheads are not recharged into the arrangement.  

o Where possible, additional funding will be allocated at the outset of the shared 
service to cover costs arising from the set-up of arrangements e.g. IT costs, 
furniture, equipment etc. 

• Consistent, effective ICT support:  

o Staff will be provided with the necessary equipment and IT hardware to carry 
out their roles efficiently across multiple sites, even if this means providing them 
with equipment beyond that provided to non-shared service officers.  

o ICT teams will work together to establish the necessary flexibilities in firewalls 
and network access, e.g. allowing another authority’s network to operate within 
the buildings. 

When considering any new shared working arrangement, these principles will be shared 
between all parties to clearly set out the principles by which all parties will operate. 
 

Opportunities for Shared Service Arrangements  

3.5 The Director (Corporate Services), supported by the Corporate Change Manager, has 
responsibility for the exploration and progression of shared working arrangements across 
the council.  They will work closely with the relevant service Director and Assistant 
Director/Service Manager in processing these arrangements as required. 

Page 25



 
 

Page | 10                                                                       June 2021 

3.6 Where opportunities for shared working are identified, an initial discussion should take 
place with the Director (Corporate Services) and further discussions can then take place 
with the authority/authorities that have been identified or are supportive of shared working 
arrangements. 

3.7 It will be necessary for a business case to be prepared for all full shared service and joint 
management arrangements.  Appendix two provides a template for a Shared Services 
business case to assist in the assessment of a new arrangement.  Whilst it is not 
necessary for this form to be completed in this format, it does cover all of the issues that 
need to be considered when contemplating entering into a new shared service 
arrangement and therefore its use is recommended. 

3.8 For joint officer and more ad-hoc arrangements, it is not necessary for a full business case 
to be drawn up.  It is however, useful to consider the key points within the business case 
for such arrangements in order to ensure that they will provide the service that is required 
by the council as a whole. 

3.9 Before formally entering into any shared service arrangement the opinions of the 
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer must be sought 
to ensure that there are no legal implications and a thorough financial analysis has been 
completed. 

3.10 Approval must then be sought as follows: 
a. For all full shared service arrangements, the business case for the shared service 

should be presented to the Cabinet for approval, once it has been approved by the 
Director, Leader of the Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder. 

b. For all joint management or joint officer arrangement, the Leader of the Executive, 
in conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder(s), has delegated 
responsibilities for all shared services/joint-working initiatives. In practice, a report 
on shared management arrangements is usually taken through the relevant 
Cabinet Committee to enable Member discussion, ahead of the Leader of the 
Executive and Lead Member making a final decision. 

c. For ad-hoc arrangements, formal Member approval is not required, although it is 
important that the Leader of the Executive and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder are kept 
informed of current working arrangements.  In addition, it may be prudent to keep 
the relevant Cabinet Committee updated with the progression of such an 
arrangement. 

 

Key factors to be considered in setting-up shared working arrangements 

3.11 There are a number of factors that need to be taken into account when establishing shared 
services: 
a. Delivering savings/income and/or Increased Resilience – a key driver for 

shared working is the realisation of savings/income for all authorities involved.  
Secondary to this is the potential to increase resilience for services, which is 
particularly important where the individual teams are small. 

 

 

Page 26



 
 

Page | 11                                                                       June 2021 

b. Officer Consultation - where significant changes to working arrangements are 
proposed, it will be necessary to undertake a consultation with the officers that are 
to be affected by the change.  The Personnel/HR Teams should be kept informed 
of all proposals and will be able to advise if a consultation is necessary.  Where a 
consultation process with officers is required, the consultation will take place in 
accordance with all relevant guidance and/or legislation. 

c. IT Requirements – consideration needs to be given to the specific IT requirements 
of officers to ensure they are able to operate effectively.  This may include the 
purchase of new hardware, additional software license and training, all of which 
should be factored into the business case for the shared service where appropriate. 

d. Facilities Management – consideration needs to be given to the location of the 
shared service/joint working arrangement and the impact this may have on the 
employee and the employer.  This may result in additional travel costs, hardware 
costs etc. and these need to be considered when establishing the arrangement. 

3.12 With any shared service, it is imperative that all staff affected by any change are kept up-
to-date with any potential changes.  Communication is a key factor in the success of any 
type of shared or joint-working arrangement.  As such, it will be important to liaise with the 
Communications Manager at each authority to ensure regular and consistent messages 
are communicated to all sites. 

Page 27



 
 

Page | 12                                                                       June 2021 

4. Procedure for Managing Partnerships and Shared Service 
Arrangements  
4.1 It is important that there are suitable governance arrangements in place for both 

partnerships and shared working arrangements.  The partnership or shared service 
agreement will be the key governance document, although what they should actually 
include will differ depending on the type of arrangement.  Appendix three provides a 
summary of the key elements to consider in both types of arrangements. 

4.2 Whatever type of arrangement is in place, the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) must be involved in the development of any formal agreement that the council 
enters into. This is to ensure that it is fit for purpose and covers everything that is 
necessary for the type and level of arrangement in place. 

4.3 Specifically in terms of governance arrangement for partnerships, there are a number of 
things that need to be considered: 
a. eligibility for membership and rules for the admission of new partners, for the exit of 

partner(s) and for termination;  
b. representation of each of the partners in the direction of the partnership’s activities, 

and their authority to act on behalf of their parent organisations; 
c. rules for making decisions on behalf of the partnership; 
d. rules governing meetings (frequency, notice, quorum, chairing, voting, etc.); 
e. recording decisions and reporting them to the partners and to the public; 
f. ensuring that decisions are properly carried out; 
g. the responsibilities of the partners to each other; 
h. reviewing of performance and financial information of the partnership; 
i. ensuring there are arrangements for any individual or partner organisations to 

declare and record a personal, pecuniary or other interest in the activities of the 
partnership. 

j. ensuring that where interests are declared there are procedures for managing and 
resolving potential conflicts of interest – 
i) to adopt rules to distinguish different categories of decision according to their 

importance and whether or not to permit majority voting to decide issues; and  
ii) between the interests of individual decision-making representatives and the 

interests of all or some of the partners (i.e. rules for declaring personal 
interests and taking/not taking part in decisions); 

k. maintaining high ethical standards in the conduct of the partnership’s business, 
including the promotion of equality and respect for all sections of the community 

l. amending the Partnership Agreement; 
m. dealing with breaches of the Agreement. 

4.4 The proposed governance arrangements for any new partnership should be considered 
prior to entering into the partnership and should form part of the evaluation criteria for the 
partnership. 

 

Page 28



 
 

Page | 13                                                                       June 2021 

4.5 It is recognised that where a partnership arrangement is set up rapidly to meet an 
immediate need, it may not be possible to formalise an agreement of this type.  However, it 
is important that the key areas of safeguarding and GDPR are considered prior to 
commencing the working arrangement and it may be useful to seek the advice and 
guidance form the council’s Internal Audit Team at this time. 

4.6 Specifically in terms of governance arrangement for shared services, the following 
elements need to be considered: 
a. Scope of the shared service arrangements - what activities are specifically included 

as part of the shared working arrangement and which are not included. 
b. Where applicable, details of any transfer of staff, setting out specific requirements 

of both parties in relation to the TUPE regulations. 
c. Details of how the shared service arrangement will be funded including details of 

pay increases and approval process for this. 
d. Details of how future restructures and recruitment in the team will be undertaken. 
e. Details of how the arrangement can be terminated and consequences of the 

termination. 
f. Process for dispute resolution. 
g. Consideration of Data Protection and GDPR regulations. 
h. Formal monitoring arrangements are in place which includes key performance 

measures and establishment of regular client/contractor meetings to discuss 
performance and developments within the shared working arrangement. 

 

Performance and Financial Management 

4.7 The partnership or shared working arrangement should have proper arrangements for: 
a. stating the specific expected outcomes to be achieved through partnership or 

shared working. 
b. setting key performance measures with associated targets to demonstrate these 

expected outcomes, the actions to be taken to achieve them and the 
responsibilities for those actions; 

c. reporting regularly on performance against targets and the progress made towards 
the partnership’s aims generally; 

d. reviewing and updating targets. 
e. regular monitoring of finances through quarterly (as a minimum) budget monitoring 

reports. 

4.8 It is important that the performance of all partnerships and shared working arrangements  
is monitored in order to ensure that the partnership/shared service remains fit for purpose 
and is achieving its stated objectives and is not having a detrimental impact on the overall 
performance of the service and/or council. 

4.9 In addition, these arrangements will enable the council to assess whether it is achieving 
good value from the money it spends and the time put into it by the partners and officers. 

 

Page 29



 
 

Page | 14                                                                       June 2021 

Managing Risks 

4.10 Risk management is a key feature of good corporate governance and sound business 
practice. The risk management policy of Gravesham is to adopt best practices in the 
identification, evaluation and cost-effective control of risks.  Specifically with regards to 
partnership working and shared services, risk management needs to be applied at the 
commencement of any arrangement but also during the setting of objectives at a strategic 
or operation level. 

4.11 Risk assessments are intended to ensure that risks are eliminated or reduced to an 
acceptable level, thereby safeguarding the partnership’s assets, employees and customers 
and also the delivery of services to the local community.  

4.12 A risk assessment should be delivered in the form of a risk register (the format of which is 
not prescribed but should consider the likelihood of the risk occurring, the impact the risk 
will have and any mitigating factors). The register must be monitored and reviewed and 
this process will contribute significantly to the performance management of the partnership 
with regards to progress against objectives. 

 
Public Information and Complaints 

4.13 If a partnership or shared service is providing services directly to the public, it is important 
that it gives clear information about those services, how to access them and what to do in 
the event of a problem or complaint.  Such partnerships or shared service arrangements 
should have clear written Complaints Procedure (in respect of a shared service, this will 
normally form part of the Corporate Complaints procedure for the host authority).  

 
Maintaining Ethical Standards 

4.14 Members and Officers are expected to maintain the highest standards of conduct when 
working in a partnership or in a shared service context.  The relevant Codes of Conduct 
and Protocols set out in Annex 3 to the Council’s Constitution should apply, including when 
working on a secondment or exchange basis.  These include the “Seven Principles of 
Public Life”: 
a. Selflessness: They should serve only the public interest and should never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person. 
b. Honesty and Integrity:  They should not place themselves in situations where their 

honesty and integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly and should 
on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour. 

c. Objectivity: They should make decisions on merit, including when making 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or 
benefits. 

d. Accountability: They should be accountable to the public for their actions and the 
manner in which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully 
and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office. 

e. Openness: They should be as open as possible about their actions and those of 
their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions. 
 

Page 30



 
 

Page | 15                                                                       June 2021 

f. Respect for Others: They should promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully 
against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless of their race, 
age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. They should respect the 
impartiality and integrity of the authority’s statutory officers, and its other 
employees. 

g. Duty to Uphold the Law: They should uphold the law and, on all occasions, act in 
accordance with the trust that the public is entitled to place in them. 

 
 

Page 31



 
 

Page | 16                                                                       June 2021 

5. Responsibilities for Partnerships and Shared Service 
Arrangements 
5.1 The following provides guidance to Members and officers of the council participating in, 

managing or overseeing established partnership and/or shared working arrangements on 
behalf of the council; 

 

Cabinet Portfolio Holders 

5.2 In relation to partnerships the Cabinet Portfolio Holders, in consultation with the Leader of 
the Executive, have overall responsibility for overseeing and reviewing the partnerships in 
which the council participates.  In particular, the Cabinet Portfolio Holders will: 
a. review all new partnerships that fall within their portfolio areas and, ensure these 

are approved in line with this Framework. 
b. receive updates, as necessary, of the partnerships in which the council is involved 

to ensure that they continue to be fit for purpose and are operating effectively and 
efficiently. This will culminate in an annual review of the partnership published in 
the form of the Corporate Register of Partnerships. 

c. exercise a particular responsibility for those partnerships where the council is 
represented at Member level. 

5.3 Specifically in relation to partnerships, the Lead Member must be involved in any decision 
to exit a partnership, with Cabinet being advised of this decision as appropriate. 

5.4 In relation to shared service arrangements, the Cabinet Portfolio Holders in conjunction 
with the Leader of the Executive, have delegated responsibilities for all shared-
services/joint-working initiatives. In particular the Cabinet Portfolio Holders will: 
a. review and, where appropriate, approve all new shared service arrangements that 

fall within their portfolio areas, following discussion at the relevant Cabinet 
Committee; 

b. receive regular updates from officers on the shared service and in particular, how 
this is actually working for the council.  This will culminate in an annual review of 
the shared working arrangement (not including ad hoc arrangements) which will be 
reported to the relevant Cabinet Committee or Cabinet as required. 

 

Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers 

5.5 The senior management of the council are responsible for ensuring that the requirements 
of the Partnership and Shared Working Framework are met for all partnerships and shared 
working arrangements in which their departments are involved. 

5.6 Specifically in relation to ad hoc partnership arrangements, it is the responsibility of the 
Director/responsible Manager to ensure an audit trail is maintained of all decisions made in 
relation to this arrangements. 

5.7 The Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the Section 151 Officer are 
responsible for ensuring sound advice is given in relation to legal and financial aspects of 
the partnerships and shared service arrangements either in place or being proposed. 

Page 32



 
 

Page | 17                                                                       June 2021 

5.8 The Corporate Change team are responsible for ensuring that: 
a. effective arrangements exist to make sure that partnerships and/or shared working 

arrangements are created, managed and reviewed in accordance with the 
requirements of this Partnership Framework; 

b. support and guidance is provided to departments to assist them in the effective 
implementation of this Framework; 

c. a formal register of the council’s partnership and shared working arrangements is 
maintained and published, and reported to the Leader and through the Cabinet 
Committees at least once a year.  The register will not include those ad hoc 
arrangements that are established. 

 

Responsibilities in Individual Partnerships and Shared Service Arrangements 

5.9 Those involved in partnership and shared service work have a responsibility to the council 
and the wider public to help make it a success, and so should collaborate with their 
colleagues in the arrangement to achieve its aims, exploit opportunities and overcome 
problems.   

5.10 At the same time, they also have a duty to the council and the wider public to ensure that 
the arrangement is effective, gives value for money and is conducted in a proper manner.   

5.11 Therefore, any Member or officer of the council appointed to represent the council’s 
interests in a partnership or working in a shared arrangement should be made aware of 
these responsibilities at the time of their appointment. 

5.12 Although the Partnership Agreement or the Shared Service Agreement should provide a 
framework for fulfilling these responsibilities, in the event of concern or uncertainty about 
how the partnership is working, the relevant Director, Assistant Director or Service 
Manager should be consulted and, if the matter is of serious concern, the Head of Legal 
(Shared Service) (Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the Director (Corporate Services) should 
also be consulted. 

Page 33



 
 

Page | 18                                                                       June 2021 

6. Partnership monitoring and review 
6.1 Those Members and officers appointed to represent the council on partnerships, or officers 

who work in a shared service arrangement, have the primary responsibility for day-to-day 
monitoring – through their involvement in meetings, reading of reports and discussions with 
officers, the public and others as required. 

6.2 They are expected to consult with and keep the Chief Executive, the relevant Director, 
Assistant Director, Service Manager and Cabinet Portfolio Holders (as appropriate) 
informed of important issues, achievements and any problems that may arise. 

6.3 The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers, in consultation 
with the Assistant Director (Governance and Law) and the Director (Corporate Services) 
have a responsibility to make enquiries and take appropriate action concerning any issues 
that may arise from the various sources of information available to them about the council’s 
partnership work or shared service arrangement. 

6.4 Sources of information for the successful monitoring of partnerships or shared working 
arrangements may include: 
a. Minutes of partnership or shared service meetings; 
b. Budget monitoring information; 
c. Performance reports both annual and more frequent; 
d. Enquiry and complaints monitoring; 
e. Formal and informal feedback from the Council’s representatives on partnerships or 

shared working arrangements; 
f. Bi-lateral discussions with partners/shared working authorities. 

6.5 Information obtained from the monitoring and review process may be confidential or 
subject to General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). Members and officers have duties 
to ensure that relevant information is treated confidentially and complies with data 
protection legislation. The Partnership Agreement or Shared Service Agreement will 
contain obligations upon the council and its partners for handling of confidential information 
and compliance with GDPR. 

 
Annual Review Process 

6.6 A full review of the council’s Partnership and Shared Service Register will be undertaken 
on an annual basis with the revised Register reported to the Leader of the Executive and 
the Cabinet Committees, and published on the council’s website.  This review will be 
undertaken during the Spring of each year in order to reflect current budgetary provisions, 
but updates will be made to the register throughout the year should it be necessary, such 
as with the introduction of new partnerships/shared working arrangements. 

6.7 All full Shared Service arrangements and Shared Management arrangements are subject 
to an annual review, which will be presented to the relevant Cabinet Committee or Cabinet 
as required.  The annual review will take the following format: 
a. For the first two years of operation, a comprehensive annual review will be 

undertaken which will require detailed analysis of all aspects of the shared service 
in terms of officer feedback, achievement of goals set out when establishing the 
shared service etc. 

Page 34



 
 

Page | 19                                                                       June 2021 

b. From year three onwards, the reviews of the shared service or shared management 
arrangements will look to focus on progress against specific objectives, reporting 
against the identified key performance measures, updates against any 
recommendations identified in the previous review and recommendations for future 
years. 

Appendix four (parts a and b) provides copies of the templates that will be used for these 
reviews. 

6.8 Cabinet Portfolio Holders will keep the partnerships and shared working arrangements 
within their own specific remit under regular review.  Should they feel it necessary, they 
may seek the advice of the Members within their Cabinet Committees if they have any 
concerns or wish to raise any matters for wider discussion. 

6.9 In addition, as part of the annual work programme of the Overview Scrutiny Committee, the 
Committee undertake a number of specific Scrutiny reviews.  Any partnerships that are 
related to the topic areas that are selected for review will form part of the overall review.  
The responsible officer for the partnership will be required to provide additional detailed 
information on the partnership or shared service to aid the review process. 

6.10 A review of the governance arrangements of partnerships and shared service 
arrangements will be undertaken in February/March each year to feed into the council’s 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  The review will look at gaining assurance from the 
relevant Director, Assistant Director, Service Managers and other key managers, that each 
partnership/shared service has the appropriate governance arrangements in place and will 
ask responsible officers to provide assurance that the arrangement is still meeting the 
objectives set out in the register. 

6.11 The Corporate Change Manager is responsible for co-ordinating the reviews detailed 
above. 

 
Internal Audit Review of Partnerships 

6.12 The council’s Internal Audit team may conduct audits of partnership and/or shared service 
arrangements where a need is identified either; 
a. Through the annual audit needs assessment.  This selects the audits for the 

coming year on a ‘risk’ basis following discussions with the relevant Director.  
b. Where the organisation seeks assurance from internal audit on either the 

framework as a whole or over individual partnerships/shared service arrangements. 

Page 35



Gravesham Borough Council       - 1 - 
Partnership Evaluation   
Partnership Assessment 

Name of Partnership  
 

Date partnership due 
to commence 

 Date partnership due 
to terminate (if 
applicable) 

 

 

Statutory Status  
 

Where will the partnership 
operate (please specify) 

Please state whether or not this is a partnership for just the Gravesham 
area or if it is wider i.e. Dartford and Gravesham, Kent-wide etc). 

 

Lead Organisation (if applicable)  
 

Overall resources available to the partnership 

• Overall partnership budget £ 

• Has external funding been secured for the 
partnership?  If so, how much and what 
will it be used for? 

Yes/No 
£ 
Use: i.e. funding to be used to pay for two members of 
staff to manage the partnership. 

• Potential external funding that could be 
sought? 

Please provide brief details of other potential external; 
funding – this will be covered in more detail in the ‘Costs 
Analysis’. 

• Number of dedicated staff (FTE and costs 
if possible) 

FTE 
£ 

• Other (e.g. resources provided in kind)  
 

Organisation involved in the partnership 
and budgetary contribution 

Name Contribution (£) 

• Businesses/Private Sector   

• Individuals   

• Community Groups   

• Voluntary Sectors   

• Other   
 

Resource input by Gravesham Borough Council 

• Dedicated budget £ 

• Staffing (enter number of staff and 
estimation of time in working days per 
year) 

FTE 
No. working days 

• Other (e.g. resources provided in kind)  
 

Member input to the 
partnership 
(if ‘Yes’ please specify which 
Member and their role in the 
partnership) 

 

 

Appendix One Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council       - 2 - 
Partnership Evaluation   

Does the partnership 
contribute to the council’s 
overall corporate 
objectives? 
(if ‘Yes’ please identify, in 
detail) 

 

 

What are the anticipated 
outcomes for the council? 

Please provide brief details of the anticipated outcomes for the council 
entering the partnership – community outcomes will be covered in more 
detail in the ‘Benefits Analysis’. 

 

Lead officer from 
Gravesham Borough 
Council 

 

 

Name and title of person 
completing the assessment 
and date  

 

 

 

 Significant partnership1  Other partnership 

 
If this is to be a ‘significant’ partnership, please complete the self-assessment form fully.  This will then be 
reviewed by the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the Section 151 Officer (Director – 
Corporate Services).  Following their review, the proposed partnership must be discussed at Management 
Team prior to being submitted to the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder for formal approval alongside the 
Leader of the Executive.  It is the responsibility of the lead officer to present the item to Management Team. 
 
If this is to be an ‘other’ partnership please complete the self-assessment form; it is accepted that the level of 
detail required may differ to that of a significant partnership.  This will then be reviewed by the Monitoring 
Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the Section 151 Officer (Director – Corporate Services).  Following 
their review, the proposed ‘other’ partnership must be formally approved by the Director, Leader of the 
Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder. 

                                                 
1 A significant partnership is defined as a partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of the goals and objectives of the Council’s corporate plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the 
delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur 

Page 37



Gravesham Borough Council       - 3 - 
Partnership Evaluation   
Proposed Partnership - Assessment 
 

Self-assessment - Benefits, Costs, Risk and Equalities Assessment 
 

Benefits analysis: 

What is the partnership 
planning to achieve? 

Main aims and/or objectives of the partnership. 

What evidence is there that 
this is needed (e.g. from 
research and analysis or 
from experience 
elsewhere)? 

How do we know that we need to have this partnership?  What information 
do we have that supports the need for this partnership? 
 
Have consultations been undertaken with the public and/or stakeholders.  
If so, what has been their response?   

Will it make a contribution 
to achieving the council’s 
own aims and objectives?  
If so, what are the corporate 
priorities/targets that the 
partnership will help to 
deliver? 

Please specify the Corporate Plan areas of focus that this partnership will 
contribute to. 

What are the contributions 
towards the council’s 
objectives that will be made 
by the partnership in the 
first year? 

By entering into the partnership, what will we expect to actually see 
delivered by the partnership within the first year – specifically for the 
council? 

What will be the outcomes 
for the community as a 
result of the partnership? 

What will be the outcomes of the partnership for the actual users?  What 
will the community be able to see as a result of this partnership? 

If the partnership is not 
established, what are the 
alternatives for delivery of 
the objectives? 

Can the objectives/outcomes be achieved through other means other than 
the partnership?  What would be the cost implications to the council for an 
alternative approach? 

What are the consequences 
of not establishing the 
partnership? 

If the council does not enter into this partnership what will be the 
consequences of this action? 

How will we know if the 
partnership is a success? 

What measures are in place to enable monitoring of the partnership?  
Specifically, will VfM Indicators be introduced (monitoring cost, 
partnership/service performance and customer satisfaction). 

How does the partnership 
contribute to the council’s 
overall Safeguarding 
objectives? 

Will this partnership have any impact on the lives of children and/or 
vulnerable adults? If so, how?  How does this partnership support the 
council’s wider Safeguarding commitment?  Is there a clear procedure to 
follow in the event that the work of the partnership and/or its members 
uncovers a safeguarding issue? 

 

 

 

Costs analysis: 

What is the estimated 
financial cost of setting up 
the partnership (for GBC)? 

How much will it cost to set up the partnership?  Will this be met by 
existing budgets or is additional funding required?  Is this capital or 
revenue expenditure? 

What is the estimated 
financial cost of running the 
partnership (for GBC)? 

What will be the ongoing running costs of the partnership?  Will this be met 
by existing budgets or is additional funding required?  How long will these 
costs have to be found by the council? 

Page 38



Gravesham Borough Council       - 4 - 
Partnership Evaluation   

Costs analysis: 

What additional resources 
are required for the 
partnership, provided by 
GBC? 

What other resources will the council provide to the partnership in terms of 
officer time (and level of officer support i.e. admin, senior officer etc.)?   
What other resources will the council provide ‘in kind’ such as property etc. 

What other potential 
sources of income exist and 
have they been explored? 

Are there any grant funding streams that could be utilised for the 
partnership or other government funding?  If so, provide details of how this 
has been explored or is expected to be explored.   

Will the creation of this 
partnership have an impact 
on the council’s ability to 
deliver any other services/ 
objectives? 

If this partnership is created, will resources have to be taken from one task 
and re-allocated elsewhere.  Will this have an impact on other services? 

How will the partnership be 
able to demonstrate value 
for money? 

What measures are to be introduced in order for the council to assess 
whether or not the partnership is delivering value for money.  Specifically, 
will VfM Indicators be introduced (monitoring cost, partnership/service 
performance and customer satisfaction). 

 

 

 

Risk analysis: 

Has a risk assessment of 
the proposed partnership 
been undertaken 

Yes/No 
If ‘Yes’ please ensure a copy of the risk assessment is attached. 
If ‘No’ a risk assessment must be completed prior to the partnership being 
put forward to Cabinet for formal approval. 

How likely is it that 
something could cause 
serious problems  

Examples - external funding being withdrawn, accidents, vandalism, 
changing public demand or taste, shortages of expertise, legal claims, 
other partners withdrawing and leaving the Council with liabilities, etc.)? 

Does the council and 
partners have adequate 
insurance to cover the 
partnership? 

Have you checked with the Finance Team that the council’s insurance is 
adequate for the partnership that is being entered into?  Do the partner 
organisations have adequate insurance and how can you be sure of this. 

Where there are risks not 
covered by insurance, is it 
possible to insure against 
any of these risks? 

 

What does experience 
elsewhere tell us about how 
risky this type of 
partnership is? 

 

Is it possible that the nature 
of the risks involved and 
their impact on the 
partnership could change 
dramatically over the 
expected life of the 
partnership (e.g. due to 
demographic changes, 
political or economic 
uncertainties)? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



Gravesham Borough Council       - 5 - 
Partnership Evaluation   

Equalities Analysis 

Does the proposed 
partnership support the 
council’s Equalities Aims 
and Objectives 

Do the partnership arrangements help support the council’s duties and 
obligations to make a positive difference to its communities? 

How will the partnership 
operate in terms of ensuring 
equality across the nine 
protected characteristics? 

The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civic partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
and belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
A summary should be provided to show the partnership has been 
reviewed to determine if there is any ‘negative impact’ on any of rthe 
protected characteristics. 

If there is any ‘negative 
impact’, what action will be 
taken to mitigate it? 

Provide details of how any potential ‘negative impacts’ are being managed 
to ensure the partnership can work fairly across all protected 
characteristics. 

 

 

 

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR 

Does the proposed 
partnership pose any 
potential issues in respect 
of GDPR? If so, what and 
how are these to be 
overcome? 

Consideration must be given to the GDPR regulations and ensuring that 
the partnership is able to operate within the constraints of GDPR. 
A Data Protection Impact Assessment may not be required but if it is, 
should be appended to the evaluation form. 

 

 

 

Climate Change 

Does the proposed 
partnership contribute to 
the council’s overall Climate 
Change commitment? 

Consideration to be given to how the partnership may benefit the council, 
and the wider borough, in mitigating Climate Change in Gravesham. 
If the partner organisations have their own specific commitments, these 
should be summarised here. 

 

 

 

Partnership Governance Arrangements 
It is essential that all partnerships that the council enters into has good governance arrangements.  
As a council we have a responsibility for ensuring that we are doing the right things, in the right way, 
for the right people in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner.  It is therefore 
essential that for any partnership that the council is involved in, there are clear arrangements in 
place to ensure we are meeting all of the above elements of good governance. . 

The partnership has the following governance arrangements in place (or drafted ready for formal 
approval): 

Terms of reference and/or 
Constitution 

Yes/No and provide details of where this will be held if the partnership is 
formally adopted. 

Eligibility for membership and 
rules for the admission of new 
partners 

 

Rules for making decisions on 
behalf of the partnership 

 

Rules governing meetings 
(frequency, notice, quorum, 
chairing, voting, etc.) 

 

Page 40



Gravesham Borough Council       - 6 - 
Partnership Evaluation   

The partnership has the following governance arrangements in place (or drafted ready for formal 
approval): 

Rules for recording decisions 
and reporting them to the 
partners and to the public 

 

Policy for managing conflicts 
in the partnership 

 

Code for maintaining ethical 
standards 

 

A (draft) Partnership 
Agreement outlining the 
above 

 

Performance monitoring 
arrangements 

 

Financial monitoring 
arrangements 

 

Risk monitoring arrangements  

Dealing with public 
complaints and compliments 

 

Audit requirements   

NB: a number of the above may be included within the Constitution and/or terms of reference and therefore 
may not be separate documents. 
 

 

 

Partnership Exit Strategy 

Please provide details of the 
‘exit strategy’ that has been 
discussed in relation to the 
partnership. 

Before agreeing to enter into a partnership, an understanding of how the 
partnership can end will be required.  The exit strategy should include 
details of how the partnership will be suspended, dissolved or terminated 
as required. 
The Monitoring Officer must be consulted on the details of the exit strategy 
to ensure that it meets all legal and governance requirements. 
The Lead Member must be involved in any discussions/decision regarding 
the exit from a partnership. 

 
  
 
 
 

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council       - 7 - 
Partnership Evaluation   
Partnership Endorsement 
 
Officer Completing the Form____________________________________________  Date:_____________ 
 

Based on the information 
above, should the 
partnership be agreed and 
put forward for formal 
adoption at Cabinet? 

Comments to be provided by the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) and the Section 151 Officer (Director – Corporate Services) to 
provide their endorsement of the partnership or to provide details as to 
why the partnership will not be endorsed. 

 
Agreed (put forward to Cabinet for formal approval if a significant partnership) 
 
 
Chief Executive/Director_______________________________________________    Date:_____________ 
 
 
Leader of the Executive ________________________________________________  Date:_____________ 
 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder ________________________________________________  Date:_____________ 

 

Page 42



 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Shared Services / Joint Working 
Business Case 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

############# 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Relevant Directors who will be presenting the report for approval at each authority 
involved. 

 
Client: Relevant departments involved at each authority 
 
Date:   
 

Appendix Two Page 43



Page 2 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

Contents 
 

  Page 
Reference 

1.  Introduction and Strategic Requirements of the Service  

2.  Strategic and Operational Benefits  

3.  Constraints and Dependencies  

4.  Legal and Constitutional / Governance Issues  

5.  Equalities Impact Assessment  

6.  Risks  

7.  Existing Working Arrangements  

8.  Cost/Benefit Evaluation of Options and Recommendation  

9.  High-level Options  

 
Appendices 

1. Business Case History 
2. Current Staffing Arrangements 

 
 

Page 44



Page 3 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

1. Introduction and Strategic Requirements of the Service 
 
1.1 Scope for shared service/joint working arrangements 

Brief outline of the shared service/joint-working opportunities and the services involved in 
the proposed arrangements. 
 
 

1.2 Potential stakeholders/partners 
The councils and/or any other organisations that may be involved in the proposed 
arrangements. 
 
 

1.3 Current service provision arrangements of potential stakeholders/partners 
Explain whether the existing services are in-house, shared or outsourced and give high-
level reporting lines. (NB: section 7 will provide details of the existing working 
arrangements) 
 
 

1.4 Contribution to key council objectives 
Service links to corporate plan or corporate objectives. 
 
 

1.5 Statutory Obligations 
List any statutory obligations regarding the service. 

 
 
 
2. Strategic and Operational Benefits of Joint Working 
 
2.1 Strategic Benefits 

Benefit Measure 
List the benefits to the councils and customers. How will we know each 

‘benefit’ has been achieved 
– satisfaction, processing 
times etc? 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 45



Page 4 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

3. Constraints and Dependencies 
 
3.1 Constraints to the project progressing 

• Organisational Constraints 
o E.g. geographical locations, legal issues, cultural differences, political issues 
o  

• Resource Constraints 
o E.g. system/equipment compatibility, staff terms & conditions, other staff 

issues, availability of skill sets 
o  

• Time Constraints 
o E.g. key deadlines which may impede the progression of this arrangement 
o  

 
3.2 Dependencies for the project progressing 

• Impact of other factors on the long-term viability or ongoing return on investment of 
the project e.g. known or predicted future events 

•  
 
 
 
4. Legal and Constitutional/Governance Issues 
 
4.1 The partnership/joint-working arrangement will be made pursuant to section 113 of the 

Local Government Act 1972, which allows a local authority to place any of its officers, who 
consent to the arrangement, at the disposal of another local authority on such terms as may 
be agreed between the parties. 
 

4.2 Details of committees and reporting mechanisms along with details of any schemes of 
delegations in place and other constitutional issues that need to be taken into account. 

 
 
 
5. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
5.1 An equalities impact assessment should be undertaken for all proposed shared/joint-

working proposals.  This should focus on: 
• What will be the equalities impact on the customer 
• What will be the equalities impact on officers/staff involved 
• If there is any ‘negative impact’ on either groups, how will this be resolved in order for 

the initiative to be progressed. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



Page 5 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

6. Consideration of General Data Protection Requirements (GDPR) 
 
6.1 A consideration of any specific requirements in relation to GDPR should be considered and 

recorded .  A full Data Protection Impact Assessment may not be required but if it is, it 
should be appended to the business case. 

 
 
 
7. Risks 
 
7.1 ‘Do Nothing’ Risks – if there is no change to existing arrangements 

Risk identified Action to mitigate risk 
Risks to either council if there is no change to 
existing working arrangements 

Action that could be taken to 
mitigate this risk should there be no 
changes to the service provision? 

Risks to the customers of either council if there is 
no change to existing working arrangements i.e. 
inability to provide the service, drop in performance 
etc. 

Action that could be taken to 
mitigate this risk should there be no 
changes to the service provision? 

 
NB:  A risk assessment has been undertaken for each option and is contained within 
section  7. 

 
 
 
8. Existing Working Arrangements 

 
8.1 Departmental Structures 

Insert current departmental/team structures of both authorities (liaise with Corporate 
Change Manager re: format for this). 

 
8.2 Summary of arrangements –  

 Gravesham BC  
Salary costs (including 
oncosts) 

  

Staff numbers (FTE)   
Staff numbers (actual)   
Scope of service Provide details of the areas 

of work covered by the 
departments/teams at each 
authority to identify 
similarities/differences. 

 

Performance levels: 
List key performance 
indicators and most recent 
outturns. 

  

Page 47



Page 6 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

 Gravesham BC  
Current IT systems in use Provide details of the key IT 

systems currently being 
used by the service 

 

 
NB: there may be more than one team involved in the shared service/joint working 
arrangements and therefore it may be necessary to show the set-up of the different 
teams separately: 
 
 
 

8.3 Summary of arrangements – where more than one department/team is involved 
 Gravesham BC  
Salary costs (including 
oncosts) 

  

Staff numbers (FTE)   

Staff numbers (actual)   

Scope of service   

Performance levels: 
 

  

Current IT systems in use   
 
 
 
9. Cost/Benefit Evaluation of Options and Recommendation 
 
9.1 Clear evaluation of the options contained in section 10. 
9.2 Recommended option including copy of financial summary box from recommended option. 
 

Page 48



Page 7 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

10. High-level options 
 
10.1 Service delivery options 

 
10.1.1 Option 1 –  

Project Responsible Lead Other Stakeholders Implementation 
options 

    

 
Insert organisation/department structure diagram for this option (liaise with Corporate Change 
Manager re: format for this). 

   
Key Benefits of this arrangement Key disadvantages of this arrangement 
Key benefits to either organisation of taking 
this option forward. 

Any potential disadvantages to either authority 
of taking this option forward. 

  

  

 
Risks of progressing the option Mitigating factors 
Identify any risks associated with progressing 
this option. 

 

  

 
Investment/set-up costs 
Include all initial and one-off set-up costs 
 
Additional ongoing costs 
Include any ongoing, additional costs resulting from this e.g. travel costs etc 
 
Staff cost analysis 
Insert staff costs table (liaise with Corporate Change Manager re: utilisation of costs spreadsheet 
template as well as the Finance Team). 
 

Page 49



Page 8 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

 
 
 
Evidence of similar projects (where applicable) 
• Provide details of any areas where this type of arrangement has already been applied and 

whether it has been successful. 
 
 
 
ADDITIONAL OPTIONS TO BE ADDED AS NECESSARY TO SET OUT ALL OPTIONS 
THAT HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED. 

 

Option 1 – Financial Summary 
 Year 1 

(£) 
Year 2 

(£) 
Year 3 

(£) 
Investment/set-up costs    

Additional ongoing costs    

Staff cost savings at GBC    

Staff cost savings at     

    

Total savings    
 

Page 50



Page 9 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices 

Page 51



Page 10 of 10                                                                                   Business Case 

1. Business Case History 
 
1.1 Revision History 

Revision Date Summary of changes Changes marked 
  -- 

 
1.2 Approvals 

This document requires the following approvals: 

Name Job title Date Approved  
Provide details of the officers/Members at each authority who will need to be involved in 
the ‘approval’ process of the Business Case.  This should meet the requirements of the 
approval process set out in the Shared Services Toolkit. 
The Monitoring Officers and Section 151 Officers at both sites will always be included. 

 Monitoring Officer at 
Gravesham Borough 

 

 Section 151 Officer   

   

   

 
1.3 Notification List 

The following need to be notified when revisions are made: 

Name Job Title Date 
Provide details of the officers/Members at each authority who need to be notified once the 
business case is approved and ready for discussion.  This will normally include the Chief 
Executive and any other key officers/Members. 

   
   

   

   
   

   

   

   

 
1.4 Document storage 

This document and supporting information is held within the ############# department at 
############ Borough Council. 

 

Page 52



Appendix Three 

Drawing up a partnership agreement  
1. The detail and complexity of any partnership agreement will vary according to the size 

and importance of the partnership and the resources it consumes, but the following key 
elements will apply in all cases: 

1.1 The council and its partners should agree, and state within the Partnership 
Agreement: 

a. the partnership’s aims and objectives and what it plans to actually achieve; 
b. an outline of the rationale for forming the partnership - including why it will 

enable the partners collectively to achieve results that could not be 
achieved by each of them acting independently or by some other means.   

1.2 The Agreement should state whether the partnership is intended to last indefinitely 
i.e. with no specific end date but with a set review period or for a fixed period, and 
if so, for how long the partnership will be in operation.  It should also provide 
details of any renewal arrangements for the partnership where this is applicable. 

1.3 The Agreement should clearly set out the governance arrangements for the 
partnership (covered fully in section three of this framework). 

1.4 Where a partnership will provide services directly to the public, the Agreement 
should require it to adopt and publish agreed arrangements for: 

a. informing and consulting the public about the services provided;  
b. handling complaints, with the aim of ensuring that they are resolved 

speedily and without ‘buck-passing’; and for 
c. performance monitoring and performance reporting procedures. 

1.5 Each Partnership Agreement should set out the following matters clearly: 
a. the responsibilities for providing funding for the partnership; 
b. who has the authority to make decisions on how partnership’s money and 

other resources is to be spent; 
c. whether and how resources can be re-allocated between various activities; 
d. the partnership’s financial reporting arrangements (including arrangements 

for reporting back to the Council and the other partners) 

1.6 The Agreement should require the partnership to adopt an information sharing, 
data protection and confidentiality protocol to ensure that: 

a. All the partners are kept informed about matters of mutual interest and 
concern in order to build trust and understanding across the partnership; 

b. The confidentiality of privileged information is respected by all partners; 
c. a consistent and agreed approach is taken to data protection and client 

confidentiality in those partnerships handling and sharing personally 
identifiable information; 

d. suitable indemnities are provided when considered appropriate by the 
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer). 

 

Page 53



Appendix Three 

1.7 In addition the Agreement should include a specific protocol for dealing with 
Freedom of Information (FOI) requests.  The partnership should designate one 
officer from a public sector organisation as the FOI officer for the partnership and 
that officer should consult other partners as necessary regarding any potentially 
contentious enquiries. 

1.8 The Agreement must also include provision for: 
a. resolution of disputes between partners 
b. details of an ‘exit strategy’ for the partnership members. Even where a 

partnership is established indefinitely, albeit with set review dates, the 
agreement should clearly set out how a partner can extricate itself from the 
partnership should they need to do so.  This is a critical part of any 
agreement and must be included prior to commencing the partnership 
working. 

c. dissolution of the partnership by mutual agreement or on completion of 
agreed purposes (as appropriate); and for  
- the withdrawal of individual partners from a continuing partnership. 
- within the ‘exit strategy’ the agreement must ensure that proper 

consideration is given to: 
o  the Equalities Act 2010, and the impact that dissolution will 

have on the equalities protected characteristics. 
o The Children Act 2004 (s11) and Care Act 2014 (s42) and the 

impact that dissolution will have on the council’s statutory duty 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable 
adults. 

 In either case, these provisions should include arrangements for the 
disposition of any resources contributed by the council and held by or for 
the partnership; and for dealing with any outstanding liabilities that could 
fall on the council. 

2. Once a formal partnership agreement is drawn up, the partnership will commence 
operation.  In deciding on the tasks of the partnership, further key projects or work 
streams may be agreed.  It may therefore be necessary to draw up specific service level 
agreements for the duration of said projects or work programmes 

3. It may not always be necessary to have service level agreements and this will be 
dependent upon the type of project or work programme that is being agreed.  The 
partnership will need to decide whether the work is covered by the overall partnership 
agreement or if something more specific is required. 

 

 

Page 54



Appendix Three 

Drawing up a shared service agreement 
1. As with a partnership agreement, the detail and complexity of any shared service 

agreement will vary according to the level of the shared working arrangement in place 
and the resources it consumes.  Key elements for consideration are as follows: 

1.1 Details of how the functions of each organisation are delegated (as required).   

1.2 How the services are to be provided within the shared service. 

1.3 Accommodation – details of where the shared service will be situated and where 
officers will be expected to visit as part of their duties. 

1.4 Staff transfers – if required, details of how staff will be transferred as part of the 
shared working arrangement along with details of how and when this will take 
effect. 

1.5 Funding – details of how the shared service will be funded by those parties 
involved and how the payments are to be made. 

1.6 Details of any assets and liabilities that need to be taken into account in the 
agreement. 

1.7 Termination – details of how the arrangement can be terminated including the 
notice period required. 

1.8 Freedom of Information and how these requests will be dealt with within the 
shares service. 

1.9 Scope of service – the agreement should also provide, as an annex to the 
agreement, a detailed description of the services that will be provided by the 
shared service. 

1.10 Safeguarding – as relevant, details of how the establishment of the arrangement 
is likely to aid the council in fulfilling its statutory duty to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children and vulnerable adults. 

1.11 Any specific requirements in relation to the General Data Protection regulations 
(GDPR) that are appropriate to the service. 

2. Joint Manager and Joint Officer arrangements are likely to be a lot less in-depth than the 
full shared service; this does not however take away from the importance of having a 
formal agreement in place. 

 

Page 55



Appendix Four (a) 

 
 
 

Review of the ######## 
Shared Service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Shared service Commenced: #########) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Author(s):   

 

Date:    

 

Page 56



Review of the ######### Shared Service 

[DATE] 

  
Page 2 

 
  

In line with all shared service/shared working arrangements, it is necessary to undertake an annual 
review of the arrangement.  The purpose of the review is two-fold; to ensure that the shared service 
is delivering against its agreed objectives and to identify any improvements/changes that need to be 
made to ensure the successful continuation of the arrangement. 

 

The objectives identified for the ############ shared service are as follows: 

•  

•  

•  

•  

Page 57



Review of the ######### Shared Service 

[DATE] 

  
Page 3 

 
  

Review Findings 
 

How is the shared service operating? 
1. Has the shared service delivered on the objectives that are set out on page two of the review 

document? 

Yes   No   In part  

 

Please provide details of how the objectives have been met.  If they haven’t been met or have 
been met in part, please provide the reasons for this and any action identified to rectify this. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

2. Have there been any other, unforeseen benefits, as a result of the shared service?  

Yes   No  

 

Please provide details of any other benefits, which were not anticipated at the start, which 
have come about as a result of the shared service. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

3. Have there been any unforeseen issues or problems resulting from the shared service? 

Yes   No  

 

Please provide details of any other issues of problems that have arisen which were not 
previously identified and how these have been managed/rectified. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Review of the ######### Shared Service 

[DATE] 

  
Page 4 

 
  

4. What has been the financial impact of the shared service on both authorities?  

Please provide details of the financial impact of the shared service i.e. confirmation of any 
savings achieved, if these are above/below anticipated levels, any costs that were not 
previously considered or have arisen etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Feedback from officers involved in the shared service: 

Please provide details of feedback that you have received from officers involved in the shared 
service.  This section could be completed via a short team meeting for example, whereby 
officers views are sought. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Moving forward with the shared service 
6. Based on the review that has been undertaken will the shared service continue to operate? 

Yes   No  

  

If ‘No’ please provide details of why it is felt that the shared service should not continue and 
any exit plans that have been discussed/agreed. 

If the answer is ‘Yes’ but there are changes that need to be made to ensure  the shared service 
is effective, please provide details of the changes that are required and how they will be 
addressed. 

 

 

 

 

 

7. If the shared service is to continue to operate, what are the key areas of focus for the coming 
year for both authorities? 

Page 59



Review of the ######### Shared Service 

[DATE] 

  
Page 5 

 
  

If answered ‘Yes’ to question 5, please provide details of the key aspects of work that 
are going to be undertaken in the year in order to ensure the shared service continues 
and is further strengthened. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary of recommendations 
Please list any recommendations that you feel need to be reviewed by the relevant Directors at both 
authorities.  This may include changes to processes or potential supplement increases (if applicable) 
if it is felt that partnership is working well. 

1.   

2.   

3.   

 

Page 60



Shared Service:

Shared Service Commenced:

Author:

Review Date:

Overview of the shared service arrangement:

Progress against objectives:

1

2

3

4

5

Key performance measures:

Target 2020/21 Outturn 2020-21

1

2

3

4

5

Update against recommendations identified in previous year review:

1

2

A summary of the structure of the shared service and the services provided.  Include any details of changes that have 

taken place with regards to the shared service in the past 12 months.

Objective Update

Objective Update

Appendix Four (b)Page 61



Recommendations/Service Improvements for the coming year:

1

2

3

Page 62



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 01 June 2021

Reporting officer: Darren Everden, Assistant Director (IT & Transformation) and 
Michelle Batstone, Corporate Change Manager

Subject: Recent Member Survey – Responses

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide the Cabinet with the findings from the recent Member Survey, specifically in 
relation to technology and future Member requirements, as discussed at the meeting of the 
Overview Scrutiny Committee on 01 April 2021.

Recommendations:
Member are asked to note the findings sets out in this report and subsequent appendix.

1. Introduction

1.1 In December 2020, a Member survey was undertaken.  The main purpose of the 
survey was to explore the ways in which Members engage with their constituents 
in order to inform the council’s submission to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission, relating to council size.

1.2 In addition, the survey also sought to identify the technological support that is 
currently in place for Members, any areas of concern and any areas where further 
support is required by Members.  In total 25 Members responded to the survey, a 
response rate of 58.14%.

1.3 On 1 April 2021, the Overview Scrutiny Committee were provided with the findings 
from the survey, along with actions that had been identified to rectify the issues 
identified for consideration.

1.4 The purpose of this report is to provide Members of the Cabinet with an overview 
of the areas identified by Members for further review, and the approach the 
council is taking to address this, along with the feedback provided by the 
Overview Scrutiny Committee.

Page 63 Agenda Item 7



2

2. Member Survey Findings

2.1 Specifically in relation to technology, there were a number of areas of 
concern/consideration raised by Members through the survey covering the 
following areas:
2.1.1 The rollout of Microsoft 365 and associated training for Members to 

support them in the use of the new software.
2.1.2 Improvements to hardware provided to Members – consideration of 

changes to the actual devices used by Members along with additional 
hardware, such as monitors, to support Members in their activities.

2.1.3 E-mails – concerns regarding the reliability of the e-mail server and the 
potential for re-directing e-mails if possible.

2.1.4 Additional training for Members to support the use of virtual meetings to 
engage with constituents.

2.1.5 Training for Members on the safe use of social media.  This would include 
exploring options with Members to enable them to undertake surveys with 
their constituents through social media and other mechanisms as required.

2.1.6 Consideration of a specific case management system to enable Members 
to manage their constituency casework.

2.1.7 Undertaking a review of the council’s website to ensure it is user friendly 
and easy to navigate.

2.2 Appendix two provides a detailed response from officers regarding each of the 
areas raised, along with identification of specific actions where necessary.

2.3 Appendix three provides a summary of the key points discussed at the Overview 
Scrutiny Committee, along with the responses provided by officers.

2.4 Members of the Cabinet are asked to note the findings from the survey as well as 
the actions that have been identified to respond to these issues, taking account of 
the additional feedback provided by the Overview Scrutiny Committee.

3. Background papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Corporate Change 
Manager.  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, 
be directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 64



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no finance or value for money implications resulting from this report.  

Risk Assessment There is a need to ensure that members are able to engage with their constituents 
effectively.  The risk for Members is, that without the appropriate technology and 
training in place to support their roles, they will not be able to effectively represent 
and respond to their constituents.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
Whilst there are no specific data protection or GDPR consideration directly 
linked to this report, data security will be considered as part of any new 
systems, technology or processes that are implemented for Members use, 
particularly in relation to the use of constituent data.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Supporting Members’ in their constituency role, whilst not a specific corporate 
objective, is critical in ensuring the council and its Members are able to effectively 
engage with the residents in the borough.

Climate Change The ability for Members to undertake their duties remotely, either through attending 
virtual council meetings or by engaging with their constituents virtually, will have a 
positive impact on Climate Change through the reduced use of paper and reduced 
travel mile.

Page 65

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Crime and Disorder There are no crime and disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

The survey responses from Members identified a concern regarding the council’s 
website.  This has been addressed in the appendix to the report.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adult’s implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 66



Response to Member Questions/Suggestions: 

Issue/Concern Raised GBC response

1. Implementation of Microsoft 365 
including specific training for 
Members on its use.

The rollout of Microsoft 365 will commence June/July and arrangements will be made with 
Members on their individual migrations. As part of the process, training will be arranged at a 
convenient time for members. 

2. Provision of improved hardware – 
iPads are very restrictive.  
Consideration of a change from 
iPads to windows based platforms 
and devices to enable IT to access 
devices remotely to resolve issues 
but also provide greater range of 
packages (Word, Excel etc.).  
Consideration of Laptops/Surface 
Pro (or similar device).

Members will be consulted on their preference of hardware devices with sample equipment being 
available at drop in sessions for members to test. This will enable members to understand the 
difference between different types of hardware. It is suggested that the devices presented for 
choice are a laptop (Windows), a Surface Pro (Windows) and an iPad Pro (iPad OS). This will 
enable members to select the equipment most suited to their requirements.

3. Provision of improved hardware – 
additional monitors/screens to 
assist virtual meetings, headset, 
keyboards, etc. Providing ability to 
see the agenda and meeting on 
separate screens.

The drop in sessions mentioned above will also be used to discuss requirements for any 
peripheral equipment required.

4. Concerns regarding the reliability of 
the e-mail server.  A number of 
Members have commented about 
lack access to e-mails creating a 
backlog and raising concerns about 
missed casework

The Outlook Microsoft 365 app is far more reliable than the previous SecureMail app which was 
used on iPads. It is anticipated that Members are expected to have a better email experience 
when using Microsoft 365.

5. Redirection of council e-mails to 
personal e-mail accounts or access 
to e-mails on personal devices.

Access to Microsoft 365 e-mail from personal devices will be the best method of access rather 
than forwarding to personal accounts (which presents UK GDPR risks to both members and the 
council).

A
ppendix Tw

o
P

age 67



Issue/Concern Raised GBC response

6. Provision of remote access to 
council systems, including 
Modern.gov is lacking.  
Implementing a VPN access to 
GBC Servers for Members.

Remote access to Modern.Gov via the Pulse Secure VPN is already possible. Training on how to 
access this will be built into the Members training programme for IT. There is also a Windows 10 
version of the Modern.Gov app which can be used to access papers from a windows device which 
doesn’t require VPN access.

7. Virtual Meetings – additional 
training to support Members 
outside of committee meetings to 
enable them to set up their own 
virtual meetings within their 
constituency.

Training on Microsoft 365 including how to set up virtual meetings will be arranged.

8. Social media – exploring ways in 
which social media can be used at 
a ‘macro’ level to keep constituents 
informed on area specific issues 
but also to enable them to raise 
concerns.
Training to be provided to 
Members on the safe use of Social 
media.

It is possible to target social media at specific areas, but only on Facebook. The facility is not 
currently available via Twitter, Instagram or LinkedIn, for example.
Budget would also be required - not a substantial one, but to target specific geographical areas is 
a charged service on Facebook.
It is simple to do. During the autumn when there were concerns over the rate of increase of Covid 
cases in a specific ward, we identified a road in the middle of that ward and targeted Facebook 
messages at users whose address was given as within 1 mile of that road. The user can specify 
the radius they would like the messaging to reach and the charge varies depending on distance 
specified.
The process for this can be included in training for Members on the safe use of social media, 
which the Communications Team will be happy to facilitate.

9. Assistance to be provided to 
enable Members to collect resident 
feedback in a more straightforward 
way i.e. through use of surveys etc.

There are a number of easy to use and simple survey platforms available online. The 
Communications Team would be happy to work with Members on formulating survey questions, 
setting up surveys and promoting them via social media.

P
age 68



Issue/Concern Raised GBC response

10. Exploration of a confidential case 
management system to assist 
Members in managing their 
caseload

The imminent introduction of Microsoft 365 (365), and the Teams package that sits alongside this, 
will provide an opportunity to review integrated case management functionality to members. As 
365 and Teams will provide new tools that will be of great use to Members it is also expected to 
take a few months for Members to fully utilise the product and understand how it can be used.
It is suggest that once 365 and Teams is embedded further investigatory work is undertaken on 
the software on the market, which integrates within the Teams environment to evaluate the costs 
and benefits.  

11. Review of the council website is 
required – a number of constituents 
have raised issues about the ease 
of finding information on the council 
website.

The corporate website is under continuous review by the Digital Team working with our colleagues 
within service departments. We have mechanisms in place on every page of the website and on 
all our online forms to ensure residents, visitors and businesses have a way of providing their 
feedback.
In January 2021, 1,268 pieces of customer feedback were received about our online services, 
90% of those rated our services 4-5* out of 5. Regular website content reviews are completed to 
ensure our content is fit for purpose, easy to find, navigate and accessible. The council’s website 
is currently ranked No1 out of all UK local authorities for having the most accessible website in the 
country, demonstrating our continued commitment to accessibility for all.
If Members do receive any website feedback from constituents the Digital Team would be grateful 
if they’re passed via email to digital.team@gravesham.gov.uk. All feedback will be reviewed and a 
reply will be provided.

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three

Response to Member Questions/Suggestions
- Feedback from the Overview Scrutiny Committee: 

Overview Scrutiny Feedback GBC Officer response

1. A more developed Social Media 
training provision, that includes how 
to use social media professionally 
would be beneficial.

Social media training is in the process of being 
sourced and the suggestions by Members will 
be fed into this process to ensure all 
requirements are covered.  This will include 
exploring good examples of where social 
media has been used by Members in other 
areas.

2. The Council should look at Member 
IT provision at other authorities (e.g. 
KCC issue Members with a laptop 
and iPhone)

A review of the equipment that is currently 
used by Members in other local authorities will 
be undertaken, as part of an overall 
assessment of the suitability and financial 
impact of alternative hardware for Members.  
A range of sample devices will be made 
available for Members to try at drop in 
sessions so they can decide their personal 
preference. The results can then be built into 
future provision. This review will be actioned as 
soon as practicable.

3. The Mod.gov system has not worked 
well for some Members during the 
pandemic (e.g. difficulty accessing 
Part B etc). Microsoft SharePoint 
might be a better option for sharing 
documents.

We will be expanding our usage of facilities 
available as part of Microsoft 365 once we 
have migrated all members and staff. We will 
look at the benefits that Sharepoint may offer 
in this area. 

4. Consideration of Members being 
able to use their own devices rather 
than a GBC provided device and 
potential for cyber attacks.

The best method would be access to Microsoft 
365 mailboxes from personal devices rather 
than forwarding of email to personal email 
accounts. The use of personal email accounts 
for council business is strongly discouraged 
and could open up the council and members to 
risks under the UK General Data Protection 
Act.
To provide robust security for members we will 
enable two-factor authentication processes to 
secure access to data.

5. Provision of case management 
system for Member’s to enable them 
to manage their constituency 
workload.

This is something that will be explored further 
once Microsoft 365 has been rolled out to all 
members

A
ppendix Tw

o

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Cabinet

Date: 1 June 2021

Reporting officer: Stuart Bobby - Chief Executive

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Four 2020-21 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Cabinet with an update against the Performance Management 
Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Four 2020-21 
(January to March 2021).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

Page 73 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides Cabinet with a statistical overview of the 
council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Four 2020-21, 
covering the period January to March 2021. 

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
available reporting cycle to Cabinet and relevant Cabinet Committees. 

2.4 Following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be presented with 
individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio responsibilities. 
Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to 
be taken, to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and 
policy commitments.   

2.5 This report is for information purposes only.

3. Executive performance: summary

3.1 Appendix Two provides a summary of corporate performance outturns in the last 
reporting quarter, with the following key statistical headlines:

 57% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 43% of reported indicators have fallen in their level of performance.

3.2 Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following 
headlines can be presented for the last reporting quarter:

 People: 63% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 41% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Progress: 69% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

4. Background papers

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 74

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to deliver its responsibilities and ensure better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which therefore 
should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning processes.

Risk Assessment Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, initatives and work 
involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a core policy 
commitment of the council, efforts in this area are represented within corporate 
objective #1: People.

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People.

Page 75

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.

Page 76



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

C A B I N E T
Performance   report 

Q  4  :  2  0  2  0  -  2  1

P
age 77



Q 4   P E R F O R M A N C E   S U M M A R Y 

57%

91%

39%

50%

67%

50%

63%64%
67%

42%

40%

70%

30%

41%
50%

80%

67% 67%

40%

80%
69%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q2
2019-20

Q3
2019-20

Q4
2019-20

Q1
2020-21

Q2
2020-21

Q3
2020-21

Q4
2020-21

Corporate Objective: % PIs maintained or improved performance

People Place Progress

58%

82%

44%

50%

64%

49%

57%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q2
2019-20

Q3
2019-20

Q4
2019-20

Q1
2020-21

Q2
2020-21

Q3
2020-21

Q4
2020-21

Overall: % PIs maintained or improved performance

Overall Performance

P
age 78



17 - 19Cllr N. Thandi

Cllr J. Wallace 

4Cllr L. Rolles 

Community & Leisure:

Housing Services: 20 - 21

Operational Services: 13 - 16Cllr L. Croxton 

Performance & Administration:

P O R T F O L I O   I N D E X 

Leader's Portfolio: 1 - 3

9 - 12Cllr L. Sullivan
Strategic Environment: 

Commercial Services:

Cllr J. Burden 

5 - 8Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

P
age 79



P I  6 Total CO2 emissions in the borough (kt)     (refers two years previous) P I  25 % satisfaction with Customer Services (Reception)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

470.0 470.2 N/A 82.2% 82.5% 81.1% N/A N/A N/A N/A

P I  7 Total CO2 emissions from council assets (kt)             (refers to previous year) P I  27 % of council car parks awarded Park Mark status

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2.5 1.7 44% 89% 89% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 

#1 PEOPLE Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

O U T T U R N 

A sound car parking offer: support the local living environment with suitable and competitive parking 
provision, maintained by an effective enforcement regime.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

Carbon neutral borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to take action to prepare Gravesham 
to become carbon neutral by 2030.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

Annual indicator

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

200

300

400

500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

Q3
2020 - 21

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Page 1 of 21

P
age 80



P I  48 % of income from commercial activity in relation to net revenue spend P I  51 Total number of online self-help forms completed

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

18.6% TBC 71,366 43,668 55,070 62,198 88,787 49,501 59,938 61,029

P I  52 % of workforce IT-enabled for remote working

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

63.7% 100%

#3 PROGRESS

A financially innovative council: design a suite of initiatives to achieve genuine financial independence 
and generate the income required for our enhanced frontline offer.

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

O U T T U R N 

Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital 
experience, and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicatorAnnual indicator
O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5%

10%

15%

20%

Q4
2019 - 20

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 2 of 21

P
age 81



P I  53 % gender pay gap across council staff  (refers to previous year) P I  57 % meeting attendance rate of councillors

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

a) Mean 6.1% 5.6% 90% 82% 87% 88% 96% 91% 96% 88%

b) Median -0.6% 1.4%

P I  54 % of apprentices securing employment by end of apprenticeship 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

73% 77%

Annual indicator

#3 PROGRESS

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

Annual indicator

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

Leader's Portfolio:
Cllr J. Burden 

Annual indicator

An employer of choice: advance the council’s Investors in People standard through excellent working 
practices and conditions, delivering a high performing, engaged, and celebrated workforce.  

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

a) Mean

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

-5%

0%

5%

10%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

a) Mean b) Median

Page 3 of 21

P
age 82



P I  45 Total rental income from property investments P I  47 Total amount secured through contractual social value

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

£1,504,720 £1,652,000 £10,000 £0 £32,686 £5,500 £12,186 £0 £15,533 £5,577

P I  46 Average yield generated by property investment activity

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6.5% 7.2%

O U T T U R N 

Commercial Services: 

Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on commercial opportunities to generate income and provide a social impact.

Cllr L. Rolles 

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator Annual indicator

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

#3 PROGRESS

£0

£15,000

£30,000

£45,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

£500,000

£1,000,000

£1,500,000

£2,000,000

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 4 of 21

P
age 83



P I  1 Total number of reported crime offences P I  13 Total number of environmental enforcement actions taken

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

3,143 3,225 3,211 3,245 2,670 3,056 2,806 2,471 17 16 28 19 0 7 44 79

P I  2 Total number of reported incidents of Anti-Social Behaviour 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

636 774 556 685 1,295 1,098 874 982

Create stronger neighbourhoods: work with Kent Police on the prevention, detection and reduction of 
crime and anti-social behaviour, and the safeguarding of local residents.

O U T T U R N 

Community & Leisure:

O U T T U R N 

Actively enforce environmental standards: use available powers to pursue anyone committing 
environmental crime or damaging the local environment. 

O U T T U R N 

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 

0

30

60

90

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

500

1,000

1,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 5 of 21

P
age 84



P I  37

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

219,508 207,957 194,043 204,620 N/A 41,278 39,391 2,901 974 595 1,011 515 353 417 414 386

P I  38 Total number of ‘Active Gravesham’ attendees

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

7,318 551

Total number of leisure centre attendees

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Manage a programme of proactive healthy living interventions: work with partners to help support and 
safeguard vulnerable residents. 

P I  40

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

O U T T U R N 

Total number of people achieving a target outcome from the Gr@nd healthy living 
services

Community & Leisure:

Design a quality and affordable leisure offer: improved facilities and creative sports programmes to 
tackle local health inequalities.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

300

600

900

1,200

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

O U T T U
R N

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

2,500

5,000

7,500

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 6 of 21

P
age 85



P I  42 Total number of patron tickets sold by The Woodville

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

36 50 10,658 12,358 21,127 6,968 0 2,413 3,415 241

P I  43 Average weekly Borough Market footfall

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6,419 6,801 6,857 7,461 980 6,192 4,582 2,223

P I  41

O U T T U R N 

Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

O U T T U R N 
Annual indicator

Community & Leisure: 

O U T T U R N 

Enhance the borough’s cultural offer: maximise the usage of The Woodville and the Borough Market 
as community assets.

Total number of community activities/events delivered by the council and in conjunction 
with its partners

Annual indicator

Develop a cohesive and resilient community: implement a leading programme of engagement 
initiatives, showcasing the borough’s diversity and enabling greater participation in civic life.

#2 PLACE 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

20

40

60

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 7 of 21

P
age 86



P I   44 Total number of visitors attending Gravesham heritage sites

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

4,936 0

  

Community & Leisure: 
Cllr S. Mochrie-Cox

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N 

Annual indicator

#2 PLACE 

Promote Gravesham’s arts and heritage: support local groups in their community reach and expand the 
visitor economy.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 8 of 21

P
age 87



P I  14 Total number of net additional homes added to the council tax valuation list

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

21 24 53 14 45 71 17 69

P I  15 Gross number of affordable homes delivered

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

64 135

Strategic Environment: 

Annual indicator

Deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building: increase the supply of high quality market and 
affordable housing.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Annual indicator

Cllr L. Sullivan
#1 PEOPLE 

0

30

60

90

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

50

100

150

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 9 of 21

P
age 88



P I  28 % rate of vacant town centre retail properties P I  30 Total rateable value of all commercial properties  

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

8.9% 8.7% 8.7% 9.0% 11.2% 11.1% 12.3% 12.0% £64,341,435 £64,368,585 £64,420,185 £64,751,422 £64,801,072 £64,759,342 £64,636,262 £65,463,462

P I  29 Average weekly Town Centre footfall P I  31 Total number of vacant commercial properties 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

117,111 115,228 106,208 94,276 40,386 91,077 72,701 47,360 N/A 247 240 237 217 207 194 186

Raise Gravesham’s economic profile: develop business and transport infrastructure and improve 
local land usage through a diversified commercial premises portfolio.

#2 PLACE 

Enhance the vibrancy of the Gravesham economy: deliver a programme of strategic regeneration 
schemes, supported by an effective Town Centre team. 

Cllr L. Sullivan

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N 

Strategic Environment:
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

£64,000,000

£64,500,000

£65,000,000

£65,500,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

100

200

300

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 10 of 21

P
age 89



P I  32 % net gain in active businesses                                          (refers to previous year)  P I  33 % rate of resident unemployment 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0.3% 4.3% 3.1% 3.3% 3.4% 3.5% 7.2% 7.5% 7.3% 7.6%

P I  34 % rate of youth unemployment

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.2% 5.5% 5.6% 5.8% 12.1% 12.8% 12.4% 13.2%

Strategic Environment: 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking advantage of 

growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N 

Promote a borough ‘open for business’: with a focus on retaining existing businesses and encouraging 
new start-ups, increase the level and range of business investment to drive economic growth. 

Improve economic conditions: alongside key partner agencies, develop a package of measures that 
support local enterprises and deliver a workforce with the skills needed by modern business.

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

Annual indicator Annual indicator

Cllr L. Sullivan

O U T T U R N 

0%

3%

6%

9%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 11 of 21

P
age 90



P I  35 % of ‘Major’ planning applications processed on time 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

75% 100% 100% 83% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   36 % of ‘Non-Major’ planning applications processed on time

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

61% 77% 77% 86% 95% 100% 97% 96%

Positively promote sustainable development: deliver a pro-active development management service, 
underpinned by a sound Local Plan that protects and enhances our historic natural and built 
environment. 

O U T T U R N 

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Strategic Environment: 
Cllr L. Sullivan

O U T T U R N 

#2 PLACE 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 12 of 21

P
age 91



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

11 3 4 5 6 6 4 12 95.0% 98.0% 98.0% 99.0% 99.8% 99.0% 97.0% 98.0%

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2% 93.8% 89.0% 87.7% 86.4% 84.0%

Cllr L. Croxton 

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

P I  5

Operational Services:

Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 
working days 

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 13 of 21

P
age 92



P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.6% 42.5% 45.6% 45.1% 44.0% 44.0% 1.9% 1.4%

P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household (kg)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0 427.6 125.1 240.0 359.0 481.2

Annual indicator

Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the borough.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Cllr L. Croxton 
#1 PEOPLE Operational Services:

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

200

400

600

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 14 of 21

P
age 93



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2.0 2.1 1.2 1.2 2.4 2.4

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% N/A 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%
O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Cllr L. Croxton 

N/A
O U T T U R N

Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a comprehensive 
programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

Operational Services: #1 PEOPLE 

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 15 of 21

P
age 94



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

100% 100%Annual indicator

#2 PLACE Operational Services: 
a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 

advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 
opportunities for active lives.

Annual indicator
O U T T U R N

Cllr L. Croxton 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 16 of 21

P
age 95



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days) P I   26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8 15.9 13.8 12.8 12.8 73 82 44 56 41 52 52 64

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.9

Performance & Administration: 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

#1 PEOPLE 
Cllr N. Thandi

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to all. 

O U T T U R N 

40

60

80

100

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

2

4

6

8

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 17 of 21

P
age 96



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6% 6% 103 1,519 2,757 4,484 5,453 6,328 7,211 8,594

#3 PROGRESS

Digital innovation: provide the platforms for intelligent customer insight and a quality digital 
experience, and the IT solutions to transform services, delivering a dynamic working environment.

Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of ‘continuous 
change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.

Cllr N. Thandi

O U T T U R N 

Performance & Administration: 

Annual indicator

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

O U T T U R N
Annual indicator

0

3,000

6,000

9,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 18 of 21

P
age 97



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2% 62.5% 67.7% 62.5% 73.5% 86% 86% 86% 84% 83% 88% 84% 86%

#3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked performance 
management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls. 

Cllr N. Thandi

O U T T U R N

Performance & Administration: 

Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional 
and legislative demands.

O U T T U R N

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 19 of 21

P
age 98



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

6 1 2 1 6 11 3 5 29 23 21 22 53 30 22 26

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

5 2 2 12 2 2 1 4

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 
management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

#1 PEOPLE Housing Services:
Cllr J. Wallace 

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards, empty 
homes and homes in multiple occupation.

0

20

40

60

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

5

10

15

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 20 of 21

P
age 99



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

103 80 74 74 96 99 102 125 100% 100% 100% 100% 99.6% 99.5% 99.8% 100%

O U T T U R N

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 
efficiency of local housing.

Cllr J. Wallace 

#1 PEOPLE 

O U T T U R N

Housing Services:

Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 
support the most vulnerable.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

0

50

100

150

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

Q4
2019 - 20

Q1
2020 - 21

Q2
2020 - 21

Q3
2020 - 21

Q4
2020 - 21

Page 20 of 20

P
age 100



1

Gravesham Joint Transportation Board

Wednesday, 10 March 2021 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Peter Scollard (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Brian Francis
Leslie Hills
Nirmal Khabra
Bob Lane
John Burden
Lauren Sullivan (KCC)

Parish Councillors: Cllr Max Bramer (Meopham Parish Council)
Cllr Steve Dyer (Cobham Parish Council)

Note: Councillor: Cllr Tony Rana was also in attendance

Kevin Gore District Manager – Gravesham (KCC)
Paul Leary Schemes Programme Manager (KCC)
Claire Venner Schemes Project Manager (KCC)
Nick May Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager
Clive Boorman Technical Support Services Officer
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

169. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Alan Ridgers (Chair), Cllr Diane Morton and 
Cllr Bryan Sweetland.

170. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Board held on Wednesday, 2 December 2020 were 
signed by the Chair.

171. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest members should state what 
their interest is. 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra declared an other interest as he was a local taxi driver in the Borough of 
Gravesham.

Page 101 Agenda Item 9



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 10.03.2021

2

172. Matters Arising from Previous Meetings 

Minute 165.1 - Speed Limits and Traffic Calming in The Ridgeway, Shorne - Request 
by Cllr Bob Lane

Cllr Bob Lane advised that he would like it recorded that the response to the FOI request 
referred to at the previous meeting and in the minutes was not in fact sent until 8 days after 
the meeting.  The information requested related to the reasons and decisions to introduce 
30mph limits in Halfpence Lane Cobham and Wrotham Road Meopham, but KCC was 
unable to provide the information requested.

Minute 165.2 - Petition – Hamerton Road and Station Road – Request by Cllr Lauren 
Sullivan

Cllr Sullivan stated that it was unfortunate that funding had not been received for the 
“Dragons Den” style meeting which was confirmed by the Schemes project Manager (KCC). 
Cllr Sullivan requested that the officer continue to pursue future funding options to enable 
this scheme to be progressed.

Minute 150 – Highways Works Programme 2019/20 onwards 

Bus Hub at Garrick Street

Following a question on an update with regard to taxies, the Parking & Environmental 
Enforcement Services Manager advised that the formal consultation had to be undertaken 
and the results of the consultation would be used to formulate how the Bus Hub progressed. 
The outcome of the consultation would be the subject of a report to a future meeting of the 
Board.

Minute 159. - Gravesham Highways Forward Works Programme 2019/20 onwards

Church Path/South Kent Avenue Lights

The District Manager (Gravesham)(KCC) advised that the power box on South Kent Avenue 
had been made safe.  With regard to the feeder post damage, parts had been ordered and 
their arrival was now imminent.

173. Reports from Officers 

173.1 Bath Street - Fastrack Infrastructure Scheme 

A report was presented the report to the Board which introduced the Bath Street 
Improvement scheme. The scheme was part of the wider Fastrack programme across 
Dartford, Ebbsfleet and Gravesham and it was intended that the Board would be kept up to 
date as the project progressed. It was noted that general Fastrack items and other projects 
would continue to be reported separately, either as reports or verbally.

It was noted that the Bath Street scheme would provide a key bus link between the 
Northfleet Embankment East development and Gravesend Town Centre in the form of a 
contraflow bus lane. The new link would reduce journey times for passengers by up to four 
minutes and provide a short walk to access Fastrack for occupants and workers at the 
Northfleet Embankment East, Clifton Slipways and The Charter developments.

Page 102



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 10.03.2021

3

Following a question on whether the Red Route would be removed, the District Manager 
(Gravesham)(KCC) advised that the Red Route might be removed and could be replaced by 
one Fastrack. However, the officer undertook to check that this information was correct when 
he met with Graham Killick next week. The Chair requested that Graham Killick be invited to 
attend an appropriate future meeting of the Board.

Resolved that the report be noted.

173.2 Highway Forward Works Programme - 2019/20 onwards 

Members were provided with a report that gave an update on identified schemes approved 
for construction.  The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) provided Members with an end 
of financial year update and reported that the Forward Plan should be published in the 
following week.

The following points were raised during discussion on this item:

 Chalk Road from Vicarage Lane to Rochester Road – surface treatments  postponed 
due to utility works. The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) advised that following 
the gas works, the carriageway would receive a micro surface dressing and this 
would be done on 1 and 2 July 2021. 

 The District Manager – Gravesham (KCC) undertook to follow up on Priest Walk.
 The flooding issue outside the school on Factory Road was highlighted. The District 

Manager (Gravesham)(KCC) had been in conversation with the Chair and the 
development was going well. However, the flooding issue would not be dealt with 
until later and KCC was working to improve matters in the meantime. It was noted 
that talks with Bellway had broken down. The Chair asked that Councillors contact 
Bellway with regard to this matter.

 An update was requested on the street light column replacement half lamp post in 
London Road St Marks and the District Manager (Gravesham)(KCC) agreed to look 
into this matter.

 KCC had been in correspondence with the owners with regard to flooding outside the 
garage on Perry Street and a cleansing crew had been sent in. However, problems 
had been identified and KCC had had to block the access to the garage causing the 
situation to become heated. KCC was currently looking for a resolution to this issue.

Resolved the report be noted.

174. Issues raised by Councillors with the approval of the Chair 

(a) Presentation on Whitehill and Sun Lane Traffic Issues – Cllr Tony Rana

The Chair advised that he had received a request from Cllr Tony Rana make a presentation 
of traffic issues on the Whitehill and Sun Lane areas. The presentation had been published 
as a supplementary agenda item for the Board’s information.

Cllr Rana went through his presentation for the benefit of those present which can be found 
at https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=109&MId=4408&Ver=4

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) thanked Cllr Rana for his presentation and reported 
that at ATC had been requested on these routes (including Sun Hill) which would take place 

Page 103

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=109&MId=4408&Ver=4


Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 10.03.2021

4

in the next three months and the results would include any speeding issues, capacity etc. 
She explained that an ATC was a traffic count over the period of a week which also counted 
different categories of vehicle i.e. car, van, bus, lorry etc. It was agreed that the results of the 
ATC be shared with Cllr Rana. It was noted that the officer had previously discussed this 
matter with Cllr Ridgers and Cllr Morton.

Cllr Rana was invited to a site meeting with the District Manager (KCC) and the Schemes 
Project Manager (KCC) and it was suggested the site visit take place at peak usage times 
such as the rush hour and school drop off/pick up. The Parking & Environmental 
Enforcement Services Manager offered to attend the site meeting in his parking and 
enforcement role.

The Parking & Environmental Enforcement Services Manager also noted that he managed 
patrols to check on parking issues around local school and undertook to check with regard to 
Whitehill School and would send any appropriate information to Cllr Rana.

It was noted that the one way system suggested by residents was a possibility but there 
were other options.

Following a suggestion by Cllr Rana about alterations to the bus route, the Schemes Project 
Manager (KCC) undertook to contact Arriva to discuss.

The Schemes Project Manager (KCC) noted that the presentation had mentioned the 
existence of video recordings of speeding incidents and Cllr Rana offered to speak with the 
resident with a view to KCC officers having sight of these.

The District Manager (KCC) supported the holistic approach as suggested in the 
presentation and noted that off-street parking in this area needed planning permission to be 
sought from the Borough Council. However, he undertook to take this forward together with 
potential improvements in on-street parking arrangements and would submit a report 
containing options to a future meeting of the Board.

The Chair welcomed Cllr John Burden to the meeting. Cllr Burden advised that he had 
experienced some technical difficulties but had viewed the start of the meeting via YouTube.

(b) Issues regarding Lower Higham Road, Chalk Road, Havisham Road and Orlick Road 
– Cllr Leslie Hills

Cllr Leslie Hills reported  that he had been asking for a ‘Keep Clear” road marking outside 
134 Lower Higham Road for some time and also, for parking restrictions on junctions at 
Chalk Road/Havisham Road and Orlick Road/Lower Higham Road. He advised that large 
vehicles parked near the junction, obscuring the line of sight,forcing cars to leave the 
junction on the wrong side of the road.

Cllr Hills had also reported that issue of standing water on the walkway outside 203 Lower 
Higham Road which became an ice risk in cold weather. In addition, there were a number of 
potholes that needed to be repaired as last year’s repairs had disintegrated. He had spoken 
to a contractor who had been repairing a pothole who reported that they were paid £100 per 
repair for a repair that did not last long.

The District Manager (Gravesham) reported that contractors did not get paid £100 per 
potholes for repairs and it could have been a highway steward undertaking a temporary 

Page 104



Gravesham Joint Transportation Board 10.03.2021

5

repair that Cllr Hills had spoken to. Cllr Hills was further advised that potholes in that area 
were either being temporarily repaired or were waiting for a surface treatment to be 
completed.

In reference to white lining and Keep Clear signs, the salt on the roads had to be given time 
to dissipate before this work could take place. If the work was done before the salt had gone, 
the salt would damage the paint.

Schemes Project Manager (KCC) advised that to implement double yellow lines, she was 
required look at the accident data in the last 5 years in relation to the junctions at Chalk 
Road/Havisham Road and Orlick Road/Lower Higham Road. Therefore, she had placed 
these on a list of sites to be monitored which was reviewed annually. Two sites visits had 
taken place and no evidence of unlawful parking had been found. Cllr Hills stated that he 
would send the officer more details as he considered the junctions very dangerous. The 
Chair requested that Cllr Hills and appropriate officers meet to discuss this matter.

The District Manager (Gravesham) reported that he had looked into the source and reasons 
for the water on the footpath. Slab removal and replacement with tarmac had been 
programmed and the drain would be relocated. The officer noted that the new budgets would 
become available in April. 

175. Any Other Business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
is of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

The Chair advised that an email had been received from a representative of the Dartford and 
Gravesham Cycling Forum (D&GCF) about improving walking and cycling facilities and 
infrastructure in the borough of Gravesham and the Prime Minister’s initiative launched last 
year entitled “Gear Change, A bold vision for Cycling and Walking”. The Forum would be 
happy to engage with the Joint Transportation Board or other parts of the Council going 
forward, particularly in the formulation of a Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
should this be necessary. The Chair suggested that a representative of the Dartford and 
Gravesham Cycling Forum be invited to the next meeting of the Gravesham Joint 
Transportation Board and an item placed on the agenda to this end.

The Committee Services Officer undertook to email the information to appropriate officers.

176. Cllr Alan Ridgers 

The Chair advised that the Chair of the Board, Cllr Alan Ridgers, had tendered his apologies 
for absence because his wife Mary had sadly passed away recently. The Chair sent the 
Board’s sympathy and condolences on the loss of Mary to Cllr Ridgers and his family. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.29 pm

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday, 21 April 2021 19.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Baljit Hayre (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Derek Ashenden
Helen Ashenden
Ejaz Aslam
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Emma Morley 
Leslie Pearton 
Lauren Sullivan
Tony Rana
Frank Wardle

Please note: Cllr Brian Sangha was also in attendance. 

Simon Hookway Assistant Director (Communities)
Kath Donald Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit)
Sean Steer Operational Manager (Community Safety Unit)
James Beautridge Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police
Ben Clarke Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

9. Apologies for Absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

10. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 21 January 2021 were signed by the Chair.

11. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Leslie Pearton declared an interest as his daughter worked for Kent Police as a Warden 
in Rochester. 

12. Gravesham CSP Draft Community Safety Strategy 

The Committee were provided with the draft Community Safety Strategy 2021-24 that had 
been prepared by the Council’s Community Safety Unit (CSU) on behalf of the newly 
established Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP). The Strategy provided the 

Page 107 Agenda Item 10



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.04.2021

2

foundation for the direction of multi-agency community safety activity in the Borough over the 
next three years. 

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) guided Members through the detailed 
report and highlighted key points from the Community Safety Strategy. 

Members noted that the following had been identified as the five key priorities for the 
Strategy; a detailed rationale for each priority was listed in the report: 

 Violent crime including domestic abuse
 Persistent anti-social behaviour and environmental crime
 Preventing offending and reducing re-offending
 Protecting vulnerable people and strengthening communities
 Communication and engagement

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) advised Members that as it was no longer a 
joint Strategy and Gravesham’s partner representatives had total control, the fifth priority 
‘Communication and Engagement’ was able to be added in. The Council felt strongly about 
the priority as it would improve communication between Gravesham’s partners and the 
public, improve communicating the effect on the Borough that the Partnership’ work has  
achieved so far, further report Gravesham’s accomplishments and provide increased 
methods of listening to what the public wanted. 

The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) was waiting to hear final feedback from the 
other partners to see what they wanted included in the Strategy and following that the 
Community Safety web pages would be updated as they had expired since the end of the 
previous partnership. 

The findings of the public consultation are also summarised in the Strategy and would be 
included in the new Community Safety web pages.

Following questions and comments from Members, the Strategic Manager (Community 
Safety Unit) explained that: 

 The Council had information readily available on the website informing the public 
where/how to report crime and ASB; if it was low level anti-social behaviour or a 
historical crime then the public are  encouraged to report it to 101. However, if it was 
a serious crime or an incident occurring presently with an immediate  risk of harm 
then the public are  encouraged to call 999. If a member of the public is concerned 
about reprisals, then they could contact Crime Stoppers and report the crime 
completely anonymously 

 At Gravesham Council events, there was usually a CSU stall and the safety shop 
usually runs for a week in December where information is provided to the public on 
how to report various different types of crimes and crime prevention advice is offered 

 The CSU team were very conscious of the fact that a  percentage of domestic abuse 
victims were men, and it was recognised that there was likely a lot of underreporting 
of domestic abuse especially from men due to the stigma around it. Much of the work 
being undertaken by the CSU team was around encouraging domestic abuse victims 
to come froward and seek help; the point was stressed to Members that the CSU did 
not differentiate based on gender, any and all victims would receive as much help as 
they needed to escape domestic abuse and receive due care. The CSU team would 

Page 108



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.04.2021

3

continue to raise awareness of domestic abuse so that not only could it be prevented 
but staff could also recognise the signs of someone being abused 

 Events purely for male victims had been run in the past but the Strategic Manager 
(Community Safety Unit) agreed to look into creating more promotional work to 
encourage men to come forward 

 The Operational Manager (Community Safety Unit) and the Strategic Manager 
(Community Safety Unit) recently met with Natalie Brown who was the lead officer for 
Safeguarding and discussed the rollout of the Safeguarding training programme for 
Members and staff. She was working on it and had completely reviewed and revised 
the previous Safeguarding Policy that was in place; the training programme is being 
amended to include training on how to spot the signs of safeguarding issues as well 
as possible cases of modern slavery. It was important that Members and staff were 
provided with the training as soon as possible and work was underway to get it into 
the Member training schedule for 2021-22 

 The Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) attended the first meeting of a new 
Domestic Abuse Partnership Board set up by KCC a few weeks ago and was also 
asked to attend a media group meeting as she raised the issues disabled people 
faced and the need for engagement and effective communication with the disabled 
population. As Cllr Harding had raised the points regarding disabled victims, the 
Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) agreed to send him the minutes of that 
Board meeting. The minutes would also reflect the discussions held on the pieces of 
work the Board wanted to do with local charities; the aim was to create a calendar of 
friendly events throughout the year in order to raise awareness. Events such as 
Disability Awareness week would also be opportunities for communities to be 
reached out to that found it more difficult to access services 

The Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police agreed with the points made regarding reporting 
crime and expanded further; the public should call 999 if there was imminent danger to 
themselves or someone else, call 101 for general crime reporting, report it online through the 
Police website or contact a force operator through the web live chat where they would 
provide assistance and transfer people to the correct department. 

With regards to ensuring the safety of callers/witnesses to crimes, the Acting CSU Inspector, 
Kent Police advised that there were several different things the Police could do such as the 
most extreme like putting a witness into a witness protection programme. On the lower end 
of the scale, CCTV cameras could be installed on a property as well as alarms and patrols 
by uniformed officers. The Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police advised that it was normal for 
there to be a level of fear of reporting crimes, but the public were encouraged to report 
anything they thought could be of interest even if they did it completely anonymously as the 
smallest bit of information could be crucial in some cases. 

The Chair thanked the Strategic Manager (Community Safety Unit) for the comprehensive 
summary of the report and the hard work that had gone into making the Strategy. 

13. Nuisance Vehicles - E-scooter, quad-bikes/mini-motos and irresponsible 
cycling 

The Chair advised that Cllr Sangha and Cllr Aslam had requested the item to be brought to 
the Committee; the Chair had agreed that Cllr Sangha would be invited to address the 
Committee following the Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police. 

Page 109



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.04.2021

4

The Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police addressed the Committee and gave a detailed 
presentation on nuisance caused by E-Scooters, what the Police were doing to combat the 
issue and several cases where a successful prosecution had been made. Some of the key 
points made to Members were: 

 E-Scooters were classified as vehicles and in order to drive them on the road, the 
user needed a driver’s licence, MOT, and insurance; if they did not have those 
things, they were only permitted to drive them on private land. No insurers would 
insure a scooter and there were currently only a few areas in London and Canterbury 
where E-Scooters schemes were being trialled by the local authorities 

 There were a variety of different users; there were the youths that were riding them 
dangerously but there were also commuters who used them to be greener and some 
found them convenient instead of using a car to get to work or the train station. There 
was a lack of public awareness that E-Scooters were illegal to use on the road and 
that is why officers initial approach was to inform users when they were stopped the 
first time with a talk and a leaflet. 

 Kent Police had an officer in place that was dedicated to deal with the problem of E-
Scooters, and they had been working on a detailed plan to tackle the issue; that 
detailed plan would be shared with the CSU team once it was completed 

 A database had been created which was in its infant stages but could be accessed 
by all North Kent Police Officers; every time an E-Scooter driver was stopped their 
details would be inputted into the system and given their first warnings. If they were 
stopped a second time, then they would receive a section 59 warning and a third stop 
would mean that their E-Scooter was seized under Section 59. The officers could 
also summon the drivers to court for having no insurance; the leaflet that was being 
used had been forwarded to the CSU team and would be included in the next edition 
of the ‘Your Borough’ magazine 

 Youths on the E-Scooters were difficult to catch; they had no recognisable plates and 
would often mount the kerb or drive down alleys to escape officers. The E-Scooters 
could reach speeds of 20-30 mph and officers were not able to pursue them in a 
tactical pursuit using Police vehicles as it would be too dangerous 

 It was likely that one day more schemes would be rolled out to other areas trialling 
the E-Scooters with proper checks as it was greener and would remove a number of 
vehicles off the road but currently the Police were treating it as the illegal issue it was 

The Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police gave a brief summary to the Committee on Kent 
Police’s plans to deal with off-road motorcycles: 

 There was a rural team in place which consisted of two PCSO’s and another officer 
was returning to the team specifically to deal with anti-social behaviour in the rural 
areas of North Kent. A sergeant from the Maidstone Rural Task Force had also 
agreed to provide assistance to the rural team in the summer as the special 
constable embargo during Covid had been lifted  

 The Specials Inspector had advised the Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police that there 
were fourteen Special officers who were freshly trained and ready to be made 
available which would greatly assist the rural team in the summer 

 Community Protection Orders had been looked into for the landowners that were not 
adequately protecting their land and relying too much on the Police 

 Operation Gurkha is targeting nuisance motorbikes and anti-social behaviour will be 
run every two weeks to keep the pressure on and force the motorbike users to move 
on from the affected areas or stop entirely. The community would be engaged with 

Page 110



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.04.2021

5

better, mobile numbers for officers working in the area had been given to Parish 
Councils so that they could report any crimes directly which meant a much faster 
response time 

 Footfall had skyrocketed in the Town Centre since restrictions had been lifted but that 
also meant cases of theft had also risen although there hadn’t been too much trouble 
from the pubs reopening. The team were constantly aware of the announcements 
made by the Prime Minister and were adapting all the time; resources and measures 
were being moved into place in light of the Government’s Roadmap. For example, if 
pubs were breaking the rules, then Kent Police would look to get publicans licences 
revoked and drug dogs and the British Transport Police would be stationed at the 
train station to deter county lines dug dealing 

The Chair thanked the officer for his detailed presentation and was encouraged to hear the 
fourteen officers that would be made available to assist the Rural Policing Team. 

Cllr Sangha addressed the Committee and outlined his reasons for being against the E-
Scooters and gave numerous examples of the nuisances they caused in his ward and the 
wider Borough: 

 Cllr Sangha explained the risks the E-Scooters caused to the general public as well 
as to the drivers and passengers themselves; Cllr Sangha cited a number of 
occasions where he had seen drivers with too many passengers, some as young as 
babies, no safety equipment or who were heavily overloaded and had the potential to 
cause major accidents on the pavements/roads 

 They posed a risk to the public and Cllr Sangha had received many complaints from 
residents in his ward concerned about users driving them through pedestrianised 
zones at fast speeds or driving dangerously doing wheelies etc 

 A Strategy needed to be created that focused on education, advice, and enforcement 
with actual targets to reach in order to stop youths driving dangerous and raising 
awareness of the illegality of E-Scooters 

Cllr Sullivan asked to meet with the Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police outside of the 
meeting to discuss community policing and how it could benefit her ward. 

The Committee echoed the comments around engaging with the urban and rural 
communities equally and raising awareness as well as sharing cases where nuisance bikers 
had affected their wards. 

In response to a Members question, the Chair welcomed that the raising awareness leaflet 
would be included in the ‘Your Borough’ magazine. 

Cllr Rana asked that his thanks be noted for the PCSO’s in Whitehill and Singlewell as they 
had cracked down on petty theft and crime leading to the crime rate dropping in the area. 

The Chair queried if there was any way of using a DNA spray on stopped scooters which 
could be used to identify them in later stops. 

The Acting CSU Inspector, Kent Police explained that he wasn’t aware of any such spray 
and advised that the stop was always based on the driver rather than the vehicle. 

Page 111



Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee 21.04.2021

6

14. Kent and Medway Police and Crime Panel - Minutes of the meeting held 
8 December 2020 

The Committee were presented with the minutes of the Kent and Medway Police and Crime 
Panel meeting held on 08 December 2020. 

The Committee discussed and noted the minutes. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:56pm. 

Page 112


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Review of the Working in Partnership Framework
	2. Appendix Two - Working in Partnership Framework June 2021 - Draft
	Contents
	Introduction
	1.1 The council approved its first Partnership Framework in January 2006.  The Partnership Framework forms part of the ‘Policy Framework’ under Article 4.01(1) of the Council’s Constitution and was formally adopted by the Council in March 2006.
	1.2 Since the Partnership Framework was first set-up, the landscape within which local government operates has changed significantly with councils moving even more to partnership working and developing shared service models across organisations.  The ...
	1.3 This framework document is intended to assist both Members and officers engaged in contemplating, setting up, funding, managing, participating in, monitoring, scrutinising or ending both partnership arrangements and shared service arrangements bet...
	1.4 The Partnership Framework will be reviewed at least once every three years.

	Why Have a Partnership Framework?
	1.5 Over recent years, the council has become involved in an increasing number of partnerships and shared working arrangements which contribute to the delivery of council objectives and services.  In the years ahead, it is anticipated that even more a...
	1.6 The council must ensure it is accountable for the public money it spends, that this money is used efficiently and that it achieves the intended results.  It is equally important that the partnerships or shared working arrangements in which the cou...
	1.7 The Working in Partnership Framework sets out the key principles by which all council officers and Members will operate when engaging in any form of partnership working.

	What is a Partnership?
	1.8 Partnership or joint-working is a term that is used to cover a vast array of working arrangements between two or more organisations.  These can range from informal networks to joint delivery on specific projects and service provision. The council ...
	1.9 The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent bodies to work together to achieve the council’s Corporate objectives”.
	1.10 This can cover a wide range of partnership arrangements; from an agreement to work with an organisation to deliver a specific project or piece of work to a long-term formal arrangement delivering important services over a borough-wide area. It is...
	1.11 Partnerships and/or joint-working arrangements that the council becomes involved in will be categorised in three ways:
	a. Ad hoc arrangements – those that are set up to meet a specific need and are established rapidly to address an immediate/urgent need for a defined period of time.  These are arrangements that would need to be set up within one month to ensure contin...
	b. Significant arrangements – those arrangements for which there is a council resource provision of £50,000 or greater or one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective as established within the council’s Corporate Plan. Without this...
	c. Other arrangements – all other partnership and joint-working arrangements that are in place to ensure delivery of services to the borough of Gravesham, but do not have the significant level of financial resource or are not a fundamental delivery to...
	1.12 Partnerships most commonly take the form of ‘unincorporated associations’.  This means that they do not have a separate legal existence and each of the partner organisations remains legally and financially responsible for the actions they take wi...
	1.13 Another, less common, form of partnership is where the partners create a separate company or a charitable trust to achieve particular purposes.  This is a more complex matter involving detailed legal and financial arrangements and as such, these ...
	1.14 It should be noted that the council also provides funding to a number of community organisations to enable them to provide specific services to the residents of Gravesham. These grants are reviewed every three-years.  Consideration will be given ...
	1.15 There is no ‘one size fits all’ set of arrangements for partnership working – they have to be tailored to the specific purposes involved.  Regardless of the form, purpose, size, or importance of a partnership, however, there are several things th...

	What is a Shared Service/Working Arrangement?
	1.16 When exploring opportunities for joint-working between local authorities, there are a number of different types of initiatives:
	a. A full shared service – this type of arrangement involves teams from two or more authorities joining to form one team, hosted by one authority.  For example, this could involve the internal audit team from two authorities joining to form one intern...
	b. Joint-management – this type of arrangement involves the manager from one authority taking on the management responsibility of a team of officers at one or more other authorities.  For example, this could involve the IT Manager at one authority tak...
	c. Joint-officer – this type of arrangement is very similar to the joint-management arrangement.  This involves officers, who are not managers, providing resilience to another authority either on a long-term or permanent basis.
	d. Ad-hoc resilience – as the name suggests, this type of arrangement involves an officer (or officers) from one authority providing additional capacity to another authority on a short term basis (this could be as maternity cover or on an ‘as and when...
	1.17 The type of arrangement that is entered into will dictate the level of legal agreements and governance arrangements that are required.
	Other arrangements
	1.18 The council is also involved in a number of commissioning arrangements, whereby the council is paid to deliver a service on behalf of another organisation.  This is not a partnership arrangement although some of the principles within this framewo...
	2.  Council Policy for Partnership Development
	2.1 The council recognises the importance of ensuring that its partnerships serve a useful public purpose, are effective in achieving their aims and provide good value for the time, effort and money put into them.
	2.2 As such, the council will be willing, in principle, to enter into partnership arrangements with other organisations and bodies where the following one or more conditions are satisfied:
	a. there is a clear purpose for the partnership that will contribute to fulfilling the council’s statutory duties and/or meeting its policy objectives (including the general well-being of Gravesham’s communities);
	b. this purpose cannot be achieved satisfactorily by the council or any of the partners acting alone or by some other method;
	c. the partnership will benefit the council through providing resilience to its services, efficiency in the use of the council’s resources, potential savings and /or income to the council in delivering service in a more efficient and joined-up way.
	d. there is an urgent need for a partnership/joint-working arrangement to be in place to respond to an emergency situation.
	2.3 Key factors for consideration in all partnership arrangements, will be if and how the establishment of the arrangement is likely to aid the council in fulfilling its statutory duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable ad...
	2.4 In addition, consideration will also need to be given to ensuring that the partnership is going to operate in line with the Equalities Act, , in order to ensure that partnership arrangements help support the council’s duties and obligations to mak...
	2.5 Finally, consideration will also be given to the council’s Climate Change commitment, and identifying opportunities for the partnership to assist in delivering action to mitigate climate change in the borough.

	Opportunities for Partnership Working
	2.6 For all potential partnership working opportunities, an evaluation of the partnership is required to be carried out by senior officers from the department(s) most concerned, in consultation with the Head of Legal (Shared Service) (Deputy Monitorin...
	2.7 In the case of a partnership with Member level involvement proposed i.e. when council Members will form part of the Partnership Board, the relevant Director will be required to be involved as well.
	2.8 Other officers with specialist knowledge of the service area should be consulted if necessary, especially if there are few, if any, precedents for the proposed partnership elsewhere.
	2.9 Appendix one provides a template for a Partnership Evaluation Form to assist in the assessment of a new partnership.  Whilst it is not necessary for this specific form to be completed, it does cover all of the issues that need to be considered whe...
	2.10 The evaluation of a proposed partnership should attempt to draw up a list of the likely benefits, costs, risks and any potential equalities issues that the partnership may raise and, if possible, to quantify them, or at least describe them clearl...
	2.11 A risk assessment of the proposed partnership must be undertaken to identify any barriers to the delivery of the partnership objectives along with clarifying any mitigation that has already been undertaken or is planned.
	2.12 The evaluation form includes a section specifically to give consideration to an ‘exit strategy’ for the partnership.  This is to ensure that, before the partnership is formally approved, it is clear how partners can either end the partnership or ...
	2.13 For those partnerships or joint-working arrangements that need to be established rapidly, it will not be necessary to complete a detailed evaluation form.  Consideration must be given however, to any potential Safeguarding or GDPR/Data Protection...
	2.14 Before formally entering into the partnership the opinions of the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer must be sought and recorded accordingly (ideally on the evaluation form if it is being used).  Approval mu...
	a. A proposed ‘significant’ partnership must be discussed at Management Team prior to being submitted to the relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder for formal approval alongside the Leader of the Executive.  It is the responsibility of the lead officer to ...
	b. A proposed ‘other’ partnership must be formally approved by the Director, Leader of the Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holder.
	c. A proposed ‘ad hoc’ partnership must be approved by the Director.  Given that these types of arrangements are likely to be put in place at speed, Member approval is not required, although the Lead Member must be kept informed of the development of ...
	3.  Council Policy for Shared Services Development
	3.1 The council appreciates that there may be alternative ways to delivering council services, and that working with other local authorities presents a number of benefits to the public.
	3.2 As such, the council will explore opportunities for shared working and shared services development where one or more of the following conditions are satisfied:
	a. the shared service/shared working arrangement will provide a saving or income stream to the council whilst maintaining a good standard of service for the public;
	b. the arrangement will benefit the council through providing resilience to its services, and efficiency in the use of the council’s resources
	3.3 Key factors for consideration in all shared working arrangements, will be:
	a. if and how the establishment of the arrangement is likely to aid the council in fulfilling its statutory duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable adults.
	b. how the arrangement will ensure that all requirements of the General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) are to met in order to protect the personal data of GBC residents and service users.
	3.4 In addition, a set of core principles for the development of shared services has been drawn up with colleagues from other authorities in Kent, which will be the guiding principles used moving forward in any shared working arrangements. These princ...
	Central Principles
	Operational Principles
	When considering any new shared working arrangement, these principles will be shared between all parties to clearly set out the principles by which all parties will operate.

	Opportunities for Shared Service Arrangements
	3.5 The Director (Corporate Services), supported by the Corporate Change Manager, has responsibility for the exploration and progression of shared working arrangements across the council.  They will work closely with the relevant service Director and ...
	3.6 Where opportunities for shared working are identified, an initial discussion should take place with the Director (Corporate Services) and further discussions can then take place with the authority/authorities that have been identified or are suppo...
	3.7 It will be necessary for a business case to be prepared for all full shared service and joint management arrangements.  Appendix two provides a template for a Shared Services business case to assist in the assessment of a new arrangement.  Whilst ...
	3.8 For joint officer and more ad-hoc arrangements, it is not necessary for a full business case to be drawn up.  It is however, useful to consider the key points within the business case for such arrangements in order to ensure that they will provide...
	3.9 Before formally entering into any shared service arrangement the opinions of the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and Section 151 Officer must be sought to ensure that there are no legal implications and a thorough financial analy...
	3.10 Approval must then be sought as follows:
	a. For all full shared service arrangements, the business case for the shared service should be presented to the Cabinet for approval, once it has been approved by the Director, Leader of the Executive and relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder.
	b. For all joint management or joint officer arrangement, the Leader of the Executive, in conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Portfolio holder(s), has delegated responsibilities for all shared services/joint-working initiatives. In practice, a repor...
	c. For ad-hoc arrangements, formal Member approval is not required, although it is important that the Leader of the Executive and the Cabinet Portfolio Holder are kept informed of current working arrangements.  In addition, it may be prudent to keep t...

	Key factors to be considered in setting-up shared working arrangements
	3.11 There are a number of factors that need to be taken into account when establishing shared services:
	a. Delivering savings/income and/or Increased Resilience – a key driver for shared working is the realisation of savings/income for all authorities involved.  Secondary to this is the potential to increase resilience for services, which is particularl...
	b. Officer Consultation - where significant changes to working arrangements are proposed, it will be necessary to undertake a consultation with the officers that are to be affected by the change.  The Personnel/HR Teams should be kept informed of all ...
	c. IT Requirements – consideration needs to be given to the specific IT requirements of officers to ensure they are able to operate effectively.  This may include the purchase of new hardware, additional software license and training, all of which sho...
	d. Facilities Management – consideration needs to be given to the location of the shared service/joint working arrangement and the impact this may have on the employee and the employer.  This may result in additional travel costs, hardware costs etc. ...
	3.12 With any shared service, it is imperative that all staff affected by any change are kept up-to-date with any potential changes.  Communication is a key factor in the success of any type of shared or joint-working arrangement.  As such, it will be...
	4.  Procedure for Managing Partnerships and Shared Service Arrangements
	4.1 It is important that there are suitable governance arrangements in place for both partnerships and shared working arrangements.  The partnership or shared service agreement will be the key governance document, although what they should actually in...
	4.2 Whatever type of arrangement is in place, the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) must be involved in the development of any formal agreement that the council enters into. This is to ensure that it is fit for purpose and covers every...
	4.3 Specifically in terms of governance arrangement for partnerships, there are a number of things that need to be considered:
	a. eligibility for membership and rules for the admission of new partners, for the exit of partner(s) and for termination;
	b. representation of each of the partners in the direction of the partnership’s activities, and their authority to act on behalf of their parent organisations;
	c. rules for making decisions on behalf of the partnership;
	d. rules governing meetings (frequency, notice, quorum, chairing, voting, etc.);
	e. recording decisions and reporting them to the partners and to the public;
	f. ensuring that decisions are properly carried out;
	g. the responsibilities of the partners to each other;
	h. reviewing of performance and financial information of the partnership;
	i. ensuring there are arrangements for any individual or partner organisations to declare and record a personal, pecuniary or other interest in the activities of the partnership.
	j. ensuring that where interests are declared there are procedures for managing and resolving potential conflicts of interest –
	k. maintaining high ethical standards in the conduct of the partnership’s business, including the promotion of equality and respect for all sections of the community
	l. amending the Partnership Agreement;
	m. dealing with breaches of the Agreement.
	4.4 The proposed governance arrangements for any new partnership should be considered prior to entering into the partnership and should form part of the evaluation criteria for the partnership.
	4.5 It is recognised that where a partnership arrangement is set up rapidly to meet an immediate need, it may not be possible to formalise an agreement of this type.  However, it is important that the key areas of safeguarding and GDPR are considered ...
	4.6 Specifically in terms of governance arrangement for shared services, the following elements need to be considered:
	a. Scope of the shared service arrangements - what activities are specifically included as part of the shared working arrangement and which are not included.
	b. Where applicable, details of any transfer of staff, setting out specific requirements of both parties in relation to the TUPE regulations.
	c. Details of how the shared service arrangement will be funded including details of pay increases and approval process for this.
	d. Details of how future restructures and recruitment in the team will be undertaken.
	e. Details of how the arrangement can be terminated and consequences of the termination.
	f. Process for dispute resolution.
	g. Consideration of Data Protection and GDPR regulations.
	h. Formal monitoring arrangements are in place which includes key performance measures and establishment of regular client/contractor meetings to discuss performance and developments within the shared working arrangement.

	Performance and Financial Management
	4.7 The partnership or shared working arrangement should have proper arrangements for:
	a. stating the specific expected outcomes to be achieved through partnership or shared working.
	b. setting key performance measures with associated targets to demonstrate these expected outcomes, the actions to be taken to achieve them and the responsibilities for those actions;
	c. reporting regularly on performance against targets and the progress made towards the partnership’s aims generally;
	d. reviewing and updating targets.
	e. regular monitoring of finances through quarterly (as a minimum) budget monitoring reports.
	4.8 It is important that the performance of all partnerships and shared working arrangements  is monitored in order to ensure that the partnership/shared service remains fit for purpose and is achieving its stated objectives and is not having a detrim...
	4.9 In addition, these arrangements will enable the council to assess whether it is achieving good value from the money it spends and the time put into it by the partners and officers.

	Managing Risks
	4.10 Risk management is a key feature of good corporate governance and sound business practice. The risk management policy of Gravesham is to adopt best practices in the identification, evaluation and cost-effective control of risks.  Specifically wit...
	4.11 Risk assessments are intended to ensure that risks are eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level, thereby safeguarding the partnership’s assets, employees and customers and also the delivery of services to the local community.
	4.12 A risk assessment should be delivered in the form of a risk register (the format of which is not prescribed but should consider the likelihood of the risk occurring, the impact the risk will have and any mitigating factors). The register must be ...

	Public Information and Complaints
	4.13 If a partnership or shared service is providing services directly to the public, it is important that it gives clear information about those services, how to access them and what to do in the event of a problem or complaint.  Such partnerships or...

	Maintaining Ethical Standards
	4.14 Members and Officers are expected to maintain the highest standards of conduct when working in a partnership or in a shared service context.  The relevant Codes of Conduct and Protocols set out in Annex 3 to the Council’s Constitution should appl...
	a. Selflessness: They should serve only the public interest and should never improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person.
	b. Honesty and Integrity:  They should not place themselves in situations where their honesty and integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour.
	c. Objectivity: They should make decisions on merit, including when making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits.
	d. Accountability: They should be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate to their particular office.
	e. Openness: They should be as open as possible about their actions and those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions.
	f. Respect for Others: They should promote equality by not discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect, regardless of their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. They should respect the im...
	g. Duty to Uphold the Law: They should uphold the law and, on all occasions, act in accordance with the trust that the public is entitled to place in them.
	5.  Responsibilities for Partnerships and Shared Service Arrangements
	5.1 The following provides guidance to Members and officers of the council participating in, managing or overseeing established partnership and/or shared working arrangements on behalf of the council;
	Cabinet Portfolio Holders
	5.2 In relation to partnerships the Cabinet Portfolio Holders, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive, have overall responsibility for overseeing and reviewing the partnerships in which the council participates.  In particular, the Cabinet P...
	a. review all new partnerships that fall within their portfolio areas and, ensure these are approved in line with this Framework.
	b. receive updates, as necessary, of the partnerships in which the council is involved to ensure that they continue to be fit for purpose and are operating effectively and efficiently. This will culminate in an annual review of the partnership publish...
	c. exercise a particular responsibility for those partnerships where the council is represented at Member level.
	5.3 Specifically in relation to partnerships, the Lead Member must be involved in any decision to exit a partnership, with Cabinet being advised of this decision as appropriate.
	5.4 In relation to shared service arrangements, the Cabinet Portfolio Holders in conjunction with the Leader of the Executive, have delegated responsibilities for all shared-services/joint-working initiatives. In particular the Cabinet Portfolio Holde...
	a. review and, where appropriate, approve all new shared service arrangements that fall within their portfolio areas, following discussion at the relevant Cabinet Committee;
	b. receive regular updates from officers on the shared service and in particular, how this is actually working for the council.  This will culminate in an annual review of the shared working arrangement (not including ad hoc arrangements) which will b...
	Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers
	5.5 The senior management of the council are responsible for ensuring that the requirements of the Partnership and Shared Working Framework are met for all partnerships and shared working arrangements in which their departments are involved.
	5.6 Specifically in relation to ad hoc partnership arrangements, it is the responsibility of the Director/responsible Manager to ensure an audit trail is maintained of all decisions made in relation to this arrangements.
	5.7 The Monitoring Officer (or Deputy Monitoring Officer) and the Section 151 Officer are responsible for ensuring sound advice is given in relation to legal and financial aspects of the partnerships and shared service arrangements either in place or ...
	5.8 The Corporate Change team are responsible for ensuring that:
	a. effective arrangements exist to make sure that partnerships and/or shared working arrangements are created, managed and reviewed in accordance with the requirements of this Partnership Framework;
	b. support and guidance is provided to departments to assist them in the effective implementation of this Framework;
	c. a formal register of the council’s partnership and shared working arrangements is maintained and published, and reported to the Leader and through the Cabinet Committees at least once a year.  The register will not include those ad hoc arrangements...

	Responsibilities in Individual Partnerships and Shared Service Arrangements
	5.9 Those involved in partnership and shared service work have a responsibility to the council and the wider public to help make it a success, and so should collaborate with their colleagues in the arrangement to achieve its aims, exploit opportunitie...
	5.10 At the same time, they also have a duty to the council and the wider public to ensure that the arrangement is effective, gives value for money and is conducted in a proper manner.
	5.11 Therefore, any Member or officer of the council appointed to represent the council’s interests in a partnership or working in a shared arrangement should be made aware of these responsibilities at the time of their appointment.
	5.12 Although the Partnership Agreement or the Shared Service Agreement should provide a framework for fulfilling these responsibilities, in the event of concern or uncertainty about how the partnership is working, the relevant Director, Assistant Dir...
	6.  Partnership monitoring and review
	6.1 Those Members and officers appointed to represent the council on partnerships, or officers who work in a shared service arrangement, have the primary responsibility for day-to-day monitoring – through their involvement in meetings, reading of repo...
	6.2 They are expected to consult with and keep the Chief Executive, the relevant Director, Assistant Director, Service Manager and Cabinet Portfolio Holders (as appropriate) informed of important issues, achievements and any problems that may arise.
	6.3 The Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers, in consultation with the Assistant Director (Governance and Law) and the Director (Corporate Services) have a responsibility to make enquiries and take appropriate action co...
	6.4 Sources of information for the successful monitoring of partnerships or shared working arrangements may include:
	a. Minutes of partnership or shared service meetings;
	b. Budget monitoring information;
	c. Performance reports both annual and more frequent;
	d. Enquiry and complaints monitoring;
	e. Formal and informal feedback from the Council’s representatives on partnerships or shared working arrangements;
	f. Bi-lateral discussions with partners/shared working authorities.
	6.5 Information obtained from the monitoring and review process may be confidential or subject to General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). Members and officers have duties to ensure that relevant information is treated confidentially and complies w...

	Annual Review Process
	6.6 A full review of the council’s Partnership and Shared Service Register will be undertaken on an annual basis with the revised Register reported to the Leader of the Executive and the Cabinet Committees, and published on the council’s website.  Thi...
	6.7 All full Shared Service arrangements and Shared Management arrangements are subject to an annual review, which will be presented to the relevant Cabinet Committee or Cabinet as required.  The annual review will take the following format:
	a. For the first two years of operation, a comprehensive annual review will be undertaken which will require detailed analysis of all aspects of the shared service in terms of officer feedback, achievement of goals set out when establishing the shared...
	b. From year three onwards, the reviews of the shared service or shared management arrangements will look to focus on progress against specific objectives, reporting against the identified key performance measures, updates against any recommendations ...
	Appendix four (parts a and b) provides copies of the templates that will be used for these reviews.
	6.8 Cabinet Portfolio Holders will keep the partnerships and shared working arrangements within their own specific remit under regular review.  Should they feel it necessary, they may seek the advice of the Members within their Cabinet Committees if t...
	6.9 In addition, as part of the annual work programme of the Overview Scrutiny Committee, the Committee undertake a number of specific Scrutiny reviews.  Any partnerships that are related to the topic areas that are selected for review will form part ...
	6.10 A review of the governance arrangements of partnerships and shared service arrangements will be undertaken in February/March each year to feed into the council’s Annual Governance Statement (AGS).  The review will look at gaining assurance from t...
	6.11 The Corporate Change Manager is responsible for co-ordinating the reviews detailed above.

	Internal Audit Review of Partnerships
	6.12 The council’s Internal Audit team may conduct audits of partnership and/or shared service arrangements where a need is identified either;
	a. Through the annual audit needs assessment.  This selects the audits for the coming year on a ‘risk’ basis following discussions with the relevant Director.
	b. Where the organisation seeks assurance from internal audit on either the framework as a whole or over individual partnerships/shared service arrangements.



	7 Recent Member Survey – Responses
	2. Appendix 2 - Response to Member Questions Updated
	3. Appendix 3 - Response to Overview Scrutiny Feedback

	8 Q4 Performance Report 2020-21
	Cabinet Q4 2020-21
	Front sheet
	Q4 2020-2021


	9 Minutes of meeting of Gravesham Joint Transportation Board
	10 Minutes of meeting of Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee



